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18 DECEMBER 2017 
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The Council House, South Street, Atherstone on Monday 18 
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4 Former Councillor Mark Jones – Report of the Monitoring Officer 
 
 Summary 
 

This report advises Members of a report into allegations of a breach of 
the Councillor Code of Conduct by former Councillor Mark Jones. 

 

The Contact Officer for this report is Steve Maxey (719438)  
 

 
 
 
 
 
JERRY HUTCHINSON 

Chief Executive 
 
For general enquiries please contact David Harris, Democratic Services 
Manager, on 01827 719222 or via e-mail – davidharris@northwarks.gov.uk. 
 

For enquiries about specific reports please contact the officer named in 
the report. 
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Agenda Item No 4 
 
Standards Committee 
 
18 December 2017 
 

Report of the Monitoring Officer Former Councillor Mark Jones 
  
 
1 Summary 
 
1.1 This report advises Members of a report into allegations of breaches of the 

Councillor Code of Conduct by former Councillor Mark Jones. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2 Report 

 
2.1 In May and June 2016 complaints were received into the conduct of then 

Councillor Mark Jones, in respect of his role as Member of Coleshill Town 
Council. Those allegations are detailed in the investigator’s report set out in 
two volumes at Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 In accordance with the Council’s adopted procedures for complaints (see 

Appendix 2 to this report) attempts were made to establish whether the matter 
could be dealt with informally, with a view to offering advice to former 
Councillor Jones regarding his future conduct. The complainants confirmed 
that they would like the matter to be formally investigated and given the 
nature and number of complaints I agreed. In July 2016 therefore Hoey 
Associates Limited were approached to appoint an investigator. The Council 
is a member of Hoey Associates’ national Standards Exchange scheme 
which provides support to the Council and discounted rates for investigations. 
Wilkin Chapman LLP, a firm of solicitors, was appointed to investigate this 
matter in late July 2016. 

 
2.3 It may be helpful at this stage to advise Members that former Councillor Mark 

Jones resigned as a Member of Coleshill Town Council, and this Council, with 
effect from 19 May 2017. Given the nature and number of complaints and the 
stage this investigation had reached I decided it was in the public interest to 
conclude the report and that it should be reported to Members. The report is 
marked private and confidential and remained so whilst I considered it. In 
accordance with usual practice however the matter is reported in public 
session, again due to the nature and number of the complaints and in the 
interests of transparency. Mr Jones is no longer subject to the Councillor 
Code of Conduct and therefore no hearing is being held, as would otherwise 

Recommendation to the Committee 
 
That the report is noted. 
 

 . . . 

 . . . 
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be required by the Council’s procedures, and no sanctions can be imposed. 
The issue of whether there has been a criminal breach of the Code of 
Conduct with regard to pecuniary interests could be passed to the Police for 
consideration. Members will see that this matter has been considered, as set 
out in paragraphs 6.1 to 6.6 and paragraphs 7.50 to 7.52 of the report. The 
investigators are of the view that there is insufficient evidence that former 
Councillor Jones sought to influence issues within which he had a pecuniary 
interest. I agree with that view and in all the circumstances of the case I have 
decided to take no further action in respect of that matter. 

 
2.4 Prior to the investigators looking into the allegation there was a significant 

legal issue to be resolved. Coleshill Town Council had, until June 2016, failed 
to adopt a Code of Conduct for Councillors following changes to the 
legislation in this area as a result of the Localism Act 2011. Wilkin Chapman 
was therefore asked to consider the impact of this on the complaints and in 
September 2016 they confirmed that none of the conduct prior to June 2016 
could be considered. 

 
2.5 The next stage was therefore for me to consider each of the complaints 

individually to decide which should be investigated. This exercise was 
completed in October 2016. The opinion of one of the Council’s Independent 
Persons was then needed and the complaints were sent to him in mid 
October 2016. The Independent Person confirmed his agreement with the 
matters being passed for investigation on 4

th
 November 2016. The papers 

were then passed to the investigator on the 8th November and the 
investigation proceeded as set out in the report. 

 
2.6 In addition to the action detailed above, I advised Coleshill Town Council at 

several points between August and December 2016 on what action it could 
take as an employer, such as by restricting access to their staff. 

 
2.7 As set out in paragraph 1.6 of the Executive Summary of the report, the 

investigators conclude that former Councillor Jones brought his office or 
Authority into disrepute, behaved disrespectfully and engaged in bullying and 
intimidatory behaviour. I agree with those findings.    

 
2.8 For the reasons set out above the Committee is asked to note the report. 

 
 
The Contact Officer for this report is Steve Maxey (719438). 
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1. Executive Summary  
 
1.1 Mark Jones was a Conservative member of Coleshill Town Council.  He 

resigned as a councillor in the course of the investigation which gave rise to 
this report. 
 

1.2 Throughout this report any reference made regarding former Councillor Jones 
refers to him as Councillor Jones for ease and clarity of reading. 
 

1.3 Numerous reports and complaints were lodged with the Monitoring Officer of 
North Warwickshire Borough Council relating to bullying and intimidating 
behaviours allegedly displayed by Councillor Jones along with information 
suggesting that Councillor Jones had business interests which he failed to 
disclose and from which he derived financial benefit. 

 
1.4 Complaints were made alleging that Councillor Jones: 

 

 acted in an aggressive and rude manner. This was in respect of other 
councillors, the Town Council’s staff and contractors; 

 

 undermined and overly challenged the Clerk and the legitimate, 
general decision making process of the Town Council; 

 

 was overly dominating and disruptive concerning various Town 
Council projects and issues; and 

 

 had breached the adopted Code of Conduct by seeking to influence 
an issue in which he had a pecuniary interest. 

 
1.5 We have considered whether Councillor Jones’s actions amounted to a 

breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

1.6 We have concluded that:-  
 
(a) Councillor Jones was acting in an official capacity in relation to the 

conduct alleged; 
 

(b) Councillor Jones conducted himself in a manner which could 
reasonably be regarded as bringing his office or Authority into 
disrepute; 
 

(c) Councillor Jones’ behaviour was such that a reasonable person would 
not regard it as respectful; 

 
(d) Councillor Jones’ behaviour was such that a reasonable person would 

regard it as bullying or intimidatory; 
 
(e) Councillor Jones received remuneration for work provided relating to 

Coleshill Carnival; and 
 
(f) There has been insufficient evidence to suggest that Councillor Jones 

sought to influence issues within which he had a pecuniary interest.   
 

1.7 Our conclusion is that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct of the 
Council by Councillor Jones. 
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2. Councillor Jones’ official details 
 
2.1 Councillor Jones was a member of Coleshill Town Council with a 

responsibility for Coleshill South Ward. Councillor Jones was elected into this 
position in May 2015. 
 

2.2 He was also a member of North Warwickshire Borough Council. 
 

2.3 He held membership of the following committees:- 
 

 Community and Environment Board; 

 Planning and Development Board; 

 Safer Communities Sub-Committee; 

 Area Forum South; and 

 Lead Councillor on IT. 
 

2.4 He had been appointed by the Council to the following external bodies: 
 

 Birmingham Airport Consultative Committee. 
 

2.5 Councillor Jones was also a member of the Coleshill Carnival Committee. 
 

2.6 Councillor Jones had not received any training on the NALC Councillor and 
Clerk Protocols (having given apologies on the morning of training), February 
2016, or Coleshill Town Council ‘Code of Conduct’, adopted 15 June 2016, as 
no training had been offered. 
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3. Relevant legislation and protocols 
 
3.1 Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) provides that a relevant 

authority (of which the Council is one) must promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the authority. In 
discharging this duty, the Council must adopt a code dealing with the conduct 
that is expected of members when they are acting in that capacity. 

 
3.2 Section 28 of the Act provides that the Council must secure that its code of 

conduct is, when viewed as a whole, consistent with the following principles:- 
 

(a) Selflessness; 
 

(b) Integrity; 
 

(c) Objectivity; 
 

(d) Accountability; 
 

(e) Openness; 
 

(f) Honesty; 
 

(g) Leadership. 
 
3.3 These principles reflect the ‘Seven Principles of public life’ as detailed in the 

Committee on Standards in public life guidance published 31 May 1995. 
 

3.4 The Council adopted a Code of Conduct (attached at WC 1) on 15 June 2016 
in which the following paragraphs are included: 
 

“Introduction 
 
Pursuant to section 27 of the localism Act 2011, Coleshill Town 
Council (‘the Council’) has adopted this Code of Conduct to promote 
and maintain high standards of behaviour by its members and co-
opted members whenever they conduct the business of the Council, 
including the business of the office to which they were elected or 
appointed, or when they claim to act or give the impression of acting 
as a representative of the Council. 
 
Member Obligations 
 
When a member of the Council acts, claims to act or gives the 
impression of acting as a representative of the Council, he/she has the 
following obligations. 
 

1) He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would 
regard as respectful. 
 

2) He/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard 
as bullying or intimidatory. 
 

3) He/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person. 
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4) He/she shall use the resources of the Council in accordance with its 

requirements. 
 

5) He/she shall not disclose information which is confidential or where 
disclosure is prohibited by law. 
 
Registration of Interests 
 

6) Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council, or the 
member’s election or the co-opted member’s appointment (where that 
is later), he/she shall register with the Monitoring Officer the interests 
which fall within the categories set out in Appendices A and B. 
 

7) – 
 

8) A member shall register with the Monitoring Officer any change of 
interests or new interests in appendices A and B within 28 days of 
becoming aware of it. 
 

9) A member need only declare the existence but not the details of any 
interest which the Monitoring Officer agrees is a sensitive interest’. A 
sensitive interest is one which, if disclosed on a public register, could 
lead the member or a person connected to the member to be subject 
to violence or intimidation.” 
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4. Evidence and facts 
 
Our appointment 
 
4.1 North Warwickshire Borough Council’s arrangements for dealing with 

standards complaints provide that the Monitoring Officer (MO) of that Council, 
in consultation with the appointed Independent Person, shall decide whether 
or not to investigate a complaint.  

 
4.2 On conclusion of the internal review the MO issued the Decision Notice 

(attached at WC 2) and referred the complaint for further investigation. 
 

4.3 In November 2016 the MO instructed Wilkin Chapman LLP to perform their 
investigatory functions in respect of these complaints. 
 

4.4 The investigation was carried out by Jonathan Goolden and Terry Ball. 
Jonathan Goolden holds a Bachelor of Arts Honours degree in Law from the 
University of Sheffield. He is a solicitor, partner and an accredited mediator. 
He has been employed by various local authorities as a solicitor for a period 
of fourteen years and has held the position of Monitoring Officer in two 
authorities for six years. He has carried out over 270 investigations of 
members of local authorities and other public bodies. 
 

4.5 Mr Ball is a former senior police officer who, through his police service, has 
conducted many sensitive police misconduct investigations. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in Policing from the University of 
Portsmouth. He has worked closely with local authorities and other public 
bodies and is an accredited hostage negotiator and mediator. 
 

The investigation 
 
4.6 During the investigation, Mr Ball gathered information in the form of telephone 

interviews and email communications from individuals identified as being 
relevant to the investigation. Signed statements were taken from: 

 

 Mr Colin Greatorex, Town Clerk for Coleshill Town Council (interview 
date 9 January 2017, transcript signed 31 January 2017); 

 

 Ms Zoe Hilcox, Deputy Town Clerk for Coleshill Town Council 
(interview 16 January 2017, transcript signed 7 February 2017); 

 

 Ms Helen Whittaker, Admin Manager for Coleshill Town Council 
(interview 19 January 2017, transcript signed 14 February 2017); 

 

 Ms Kate Shtrezi, Records Assistant for Coleshill Town Council 
(interview 17 January 2017, transcript signed 10 February 2017); 

 

 Councillor Kirsteen Wootton, Independent Councillor, Chair of 
Resources and Amenities Committee (interview 19 January 2017, 
transcript signed 7 March 2017); 

 

 Councillor Dominic Ferro, Labour Councillor (interview 16 January 
2017, transcript signed 24 February 2017); 
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 Councillor Harry Taylor, Labour Councillor (interview 11 January 2017, 
transcript signed 17 February 2017); 

 

 Councillor Adam Farrell, Labour Councillor (interview 11 January 
2017, transcript signed 9 February 2017); 

 

 Councillor Adam Richardson, Labour Councillor (previously 
Conservative Councillor) (interview 9 January 2017, transcript signed 
9 February 2017); 

 

 Mr Dewi Jones, Managing Director - Greensleeves Lawncare 
(interview 11 January 2017, transcript signed 7 February 2017); 

 

 Ms Sue Moore, Director – Moore Environment (interview 10 January 
2017, transcript signed 22 February 2017); 

 

 Mr Declan Rooney, Landscape Architect – Moore Environment 
(interview 17 January 2017, transcript signed 8 March 2017); 

 

 Ms Marie Brotheridge, Secretary – Friends of the Memorial Park 
(FOMP), resigned (interview 17 January 2017, transcript  signed 10 
February 2017); 

 

 Ms Julie Gregory, Treasurer – Friends of the Memorial Park (FOMP), 
resigned (interview 16 January 2017, transcript signed 9 February 
2017); 

 

 Not signed - Mr Michael Ford-Terry, Chairman – Coleshill Carnival 
(interview 9 February 2017, Draft statement sent for 
amendment/signature 9 February 2017) 

 
4.7 Despite numerous attempts at corresponding with Councillor Jones he would 

not engage in an interview process with Mr Ball. This continued, even after 
intervention by the MO reminding Councillor Jones of the necessity and duty 
to engage in this process. 
 

4.8 In light of the unwillingness to undertake any form of interview with Mr Ball a 
comprehensive list of questions was compiled (attached at WC 3) and sent to 
Councillor Jones for response or comment on 22 May 2017, with an 
accompanying email requesting a response by 5 June 2017. 

 
4.9 Councillor Jones did not acknowledge receipt of these questions or offer a 

response to date.  On receiving a copy of the draft version of this report, 
Councillor Jones made a number of comments including calling for additional 
witnesses to be contacted.  These comments and our response to them are 
set out in section 6 below. 

 
4.10 Copies of the above, together with other relevant documents, are annexed to 

this report and listed in a schedule of evidence at Appendix A. 
 

4.11 I wish to record our thanks for the co-operation and courtesy shown to us by 
all those we had cause to contact during the investigation. 
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Background 
 
4.12 By way of background, we have made reference to email threads that provide 

information relating to the complaints against Councillor Jones.  
 

4.13 The email threads need to be read as part of an overall picture and therefore 
should not to be read in isolation. To do so would cause them to be taken out 
of context.  
 

4.14 We therefore invite the recipients of this report to refer to the paginated 
numbers aligned to each email which will enable the reader to cross 
reference the relevant person to the email thread and accompanying 
statement. 
 

4.15 Initial complaints and interactions are recorded within email communications 
compiled and recorded by the MO. We attach the following:- 
 

 Complainant Colin Greatorex – emails dated 10.06.16, 04.07.116, 
05,08.16, 24.08.16, 25.08.16, 09.09.16, 13.09.16, 14.09.16, 16.09.16, 
and 21.10.16 (attached at WC 4 – schedule of evidence page 15); 

 

 Complainant  Adam Farrell – emails dated 16.06.16 and 28.06.16 
(attached at WC 5 – schedule of evidence page 83); 

 

 Complainant Harry Taylor – email dated 17.06.16 (attached at WC 6 – 
schedule of evidence page 85); 

 

 Complainant Adam Richardson – email dated 18.08.16 and 20.10.16 
(attached at WC 7 – schedule of evidence page 91); 

 

 Complainant Sue Moore – emails dated 19.10.16 and 20.10.16 
(attached at WC 8 – schedule of evidence page 95); 

 

 Complainant Dewi Jones – email dated 18.10.16 (attached at WC 9 – 
schedule of evidence page 102); 

 

 Complainant Zoe Hilcox – email dated 23.08.16 (attached at WC 10 – 
schedule of evidence 104); 

 

 Complainant Kate Shtrezi – email dated 25.08.16 (attached at WC 11 
– schedule of evidence page 106).  

 
4.16 It is noteworthy that, as opposed to a singular complainant, in this case there 

are multiple complainants, independent of each other, all complaining of a 
similar and continuous course of action. 

Terry – should we add something in here about all t in the schedule of  
Mr Colin Greatorex 
 
4.17 Mr Greatorex was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 12). Mr 
Greatorex stated that: 
 
(a) he had worked as the Town Clerk for Coleshill Town Council since 

October 2012; 
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(b) he had close contact with administrative staff, elected councillors and 
external contractors and saw his role as being a conduit between 
these groups; 

 
(c) prior to the adoption of the Code of Conduct by Coleshill Town Council  

on 15 June 2016, he believed the Council and its officers conformed 
to the guidance  within the NALC Councillor and Clerk Protocols; 

 
(d) he raised this issue to show a continuous course of inappropriate and 

bullying behaviour which had been adopted by Councillor Mark Jones 
from his joining the Council in 2015 until the present day; 

 
(e) he had arranged for Councillor Jones to receive training under the 

Protocols. However, Councillor Jones withdrew from attendance on 
the day of training; 

 
(f) within an email dated 10 June 2016 to the Monitoring Officer he 

identified, “constant criticism, constant disrespectful wording, constant 
bullying and intimidation, rubbishing of Council decisions, challenging 
my professionalism and the lack of apology/recognition of error”. He 
stated that dealing with a constant stream of criticism  distracted him 
from doing his duties; 

 
(g) since the adoption of the Code of Conduct Councillor Jones’ 

behaviour had continued;  
 

(h) he identified that Councillor Jones used his stature, physical presence 
and loud booming voice in a manner that was rude and aggressive;  

 
(i) he gave an example of when Councillor Jones challenged his 

decisions across the open office space, within the sight and hearing of 
office staff; 

 
(j) he highlighted the level of questioning and demand for detail, by email 

and in person, that was so relentless that he used the word 
‘vexatious’. He perceived that the ‘continued abuse of authority as a 
Councillor’ undermined not only his confidence but that of his staff; 

 
(k) he felt that Councillor Jones had breached the Code of Conduct  

relating to prejudicial interest. On 4 July 2016 he sent an email to 
Michael Ford-Terry regarding damage caused by the funfair related to 
the Coleshill Carnival; 

 
(l) he identified an email trail resulting in Councillor Jones stating he 

would deal with any funfair issues;  
 

(m) he went on to highlight that Councillor Jones continuously stated that 
he could get anything done cheaper than through accepted channels; 

 
(n) as a result of the outcome regarding the memorial park damage he 

was confronted in the Coleshill Town Council offices in front of staff. 
This resulted in Councillor Jones ‘shouting and bawling’. He perceived 
this behaviour as bullying, intimidating and humiliating;  

 
(o) Councillor Jones belittled the position of Town Clerk  and reminded 

him that he did not have the authority to contradict him as a Councillor; 
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(p) his staff had observed this behaviour  and supported him by 
maintaining a presence so they could act as witness; 

 
(q) he 3would now only meet with Councillor Jones if others were present; 

 
(r) There had been instances when Councillor Jones had ‘barged’ into his 

office, without invitation, irrespective of whether he was on the phone, 
dealing with someone or in meetings; 

 
(s) this had become such an issue he had moved offices in order to not 

be so readily available; 
 

(t) he has taken complaints from staff, councillors and external 
contractors regarding the behaviour of Councillor Jones; 

 
(u) he specified an incident in September 2016 where Councillor Jones 

challenged him relentlessly about minutes to such an extent that he 
believed Councillor Jones wished to influence their content contrary to 
established process; 

 
(v) another course of emails that ‘affected him greatly’ where the resultant 

sentence was “Thank You only took two years to get something right”.  
He believed these were representative of all emails originating from 
Councillor Jones; 

 
(w) he believed that Councillor Jones was part of a printing company B46 

Print, who provided fliers, banners and programmes to the value of 
some £1000 commissioned by the carnival committee; 

 
(x) the company B46 Print or details of any work relating to the provision 

of items for Coleshill Carnival, were not provided by Councillor Jones 
or recorded in required declarations of interests forms either with 
Coleshill Town Council or North Warwickshire Borough Council; 

 
(y) Councillor Jones used social media to rubbish the Council and 

conduct political arguments, identifying himself as a councillor, to the 
detriment of the Council and its officers’ reputation; 

 
(z) the behaviour of Councillor Jones had made him consider his position 

within Coleshill Town Council, affected his health and made him 
modify his work practices to an extent that he was no longer ‘open’ or 
as productive. 

 
Ms Zoe Hilcox 

 
4.18 Ms Hilcox was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 13). Ms 
Hilcox  stated that: 
 
(a) she was the Deputy Town Clerk for Coleshill Town Council and had 

undertaken this role for four years, with responsibility for outdoor 
projects; 

 
(b) access to the offices of Coleshill Town Council were via a security 

controlled system where people were allowed entrance following being 
spoken to by the reception desk; 
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(c) councillors, as did the public, had to pass through this security system; 
 

(d) an incident occurred on Friday 5 August 2016 when she had asked 
Councillor Jones, as a Borough councillor, to speak to a member of 
the public which, he did within the office confines; 

 
(e) from a separate office she could hear Councillor Jones shouting at  

the Town Clerk in the main office area; 
 

(f) on entering the reception area she saw Councillor Jones shouting at 
the Town Clerk in what she described as a bullying and domineering 
manner;  

 
(g) Councillor Jones was a large man who used his physical presence to 

dominate people. In this instance she felt the situation was 
unprofessional and embarrassing and maintained a presence to listen 
to the conversation; 

 
(h) the Town Clerk continually attempted to pacify Councillor Jones, 

whom she said could not let the conversation be. The conversation 
went around in circles with Councillor Jones lambasting the Town 
Clerk; 

 
(i) there had been similar incidents in the open office where Councillor 

Jones had shouted at the Town Clerk, identifying that this 
inappropriate behaviour was affecting office morale; 

 
(j) at an open meeting of the Friends of the Memorial Park (FOMP) in 

September 2016, she had been present in her role of Deputy Town 
Clerk.  Councillor Jones was also in attendance and spent an hour 
shouting over the Chairman and ‘slagging off’ the Council and 
councillors; 

 
(k) his actions and manner indicated he was clearly stating his point as a 

councillor and not as a member of the public; 
 

(l) following that meeting, the committee of volunteers resigned en-
masse and put this down to Councillor Jones’ behaviour; 

 
(m) there had been incidents when Councillor Jones had belittled her in 

respect of work she was undertaking relating to damage caused by 
the Fairground and replacement benches.  His manner implied ‘you 
don’t know what you’re talking about’ which was linked to a sweep of 
his hand, dismissing her; 

 
(n) Councillor Jones’ behaviour on social media and in the public arena 

was inappropriate in that he made flippant comments about Town 
Council staff ‘not doing anything’; 

 
(o) she had had no option but to disclose what she had witnessed as 

Councillor Jones’ behaviour had caused distress to her staff; 
 

(p) Councillor Jones made it clear that his instructions were those of a 
councillor and the barrage of abuse greatly affected others. 
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Ms Helen Whittaker 
 
4.19 Ms Whittaker was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 14). Ms 
Whittaker stated that: 
 
(a) she was the Administration Manager for Coleshill Town Council; 
 
(b) in August 2016 she had had cause to contact the Monitoring Officer by 

email regarding the continued and deteriorating behaviour of 
Councillor Jones as his behaviour was having a detrimental affect on 
the women in her office; 

 
(c) the women in the office were concerned regarding their safety and 

possible recrimination from Councillor Jones; 
 
(d) she felt his behaviour was underhand and identified an occasion 

where he had stated “I have friends in the police”, leaving the 
sentence hanging in the air; 

 
(e) Councillor Jones was difficult, demanding and intimidating. He barged 

into the office, speaking rudely and disrespectfully to the Town Clerk 
continually to challenge him, trying to bully and intimidate him to 
change his actions; 

 
(f) his behaviour often occurred in front of staff members and members of 

the public; 
 
(g) his behaviour in person was often followed up by emails, as well as 

being discussed on social media; 
 
(h) there was an ongoing incident involving damage caused by a council 

vehicle. This incident had become protracted, with Councillor Jones 
taking it upon himself to intervene. Councillor Jones escalated the 
incident involving other councillors, departments and her line 
management; 

 
(i) this incident had caused her to go home in tears, feeling disrespected 

and undermined. He had made her look a fool at the Borough Council; 
 
(j) due to Councillor Jones’ continuous challenging in the office, they 

ensured there were two people present when he came in; 
 
(k) as a result of his continued attacks in emails she now kept her emails 

to a minimum; 
 
(l) he came into the office and started shouting about printing, saying that 

he could get things done cheaper and better than the staff could. He 
had no empathy or respect for anyone in the office; 

 
(m) the staff had considered resigning en-masse if his behaviour 

continued; 
 
(n) Councillor Jones had made everything at Coleshill Town Council grim. 
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Ms Kate Shtrezi 

 
4.20 Ms Shtrezi was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 15). Ms 
Shtrezi  stated that: 
 
(a) she had been a Records Assistant with Coleshill Town Council since 

2014. Her role included many IT related tasks and also cover for 
reception; 

 
(b) as background, she relayed an ongoing interaction with Councillor 

Jones, where he felt the IT infrastructure at Coleshill Town Council 
was inadequate; 

 
(c) she had a number of meetings with Councillor Jones and others. She 

was aware that he knew her name. However, on numerous occasions 
he would ‘deliberately’ get her name wrong as a tactic to dismiss and 
undermine her at the meetings; 

 
(d) there had been an incident in August 2016 when Councillor Jones 

attended the office whilst closed.  He had challenged her regarding 
her lack of placing items on the Council webpage relating to Coleshill 
Carnival. During this interaction he referred to her as ‘staff’ and 
excluded her from the conversation, speaking only to the Town Clerk 
in her presence and talking about her as if she was not there; 

 
(e) this continued behaviour, putting her in her place and undermining 

her, left her in a position where she no longer offered comment or 
spoke; 

 
(f) Councillor Jones was a large man, of big build who made a point of 

leaning over you and dominating one’s personal space; 
 
(g) there had been incidents where Councillor Jones had barged past her 

when she was on reception duties, storming into the back office to 
speak to the Town Clerk, irrespective of what the Town Clerk was 
doing; 

 
(h) he used his position as a Councillor and dominating presence to get 

what he wanted, making everyone feel like they were there to serve 
him; 

 
(i) her engagement with Councillor Jones had damaged her confidence 

and she worried about what she said in meetings. When he was 
present she just nodded and agreed; 

 
(j) Councillor Jones’ demeanour was aggressive and intimidating with his 

constant visits and negative jibes making the work atmosphere very 
low; 

 
(k) she no longer felt comfortable dealing with Councillor Jones  and did 

not want to deal with him in person, preferring to communicate in 
writing so things were recorded; 

 
(l) his behaviour was such that she had looked for other employment; 
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(m) she was worried about disclosing a statement as she was due to go 
on maternity leave. 

 
Councillor Kirsteen Wootton 
 
4.21 Councillor Wootton was interviewed by means of telephone interview from 

which a statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at 
WC 16). Councillor  Wootton  stated that: 
 
(a) she was an Independent Councillor on Coleshill Town Council and 

had been on the Town Council since 2012.  She had held the role of 
Mayor during 2015 – 2016. She was currently Chairman of the 
Resources and Amenities Committee which gave her councillor 
responsibility for staff; 

 
(b) she felt she was the go to person and often had staff or other 

councillors approach her due to her responsibilities and 
independence; 

 
(c) she had received numerous emails, spanning many months, regarding 

Councillor Jones’ inappropriate tone in emails, pestering questions 
and manner of questioning that she described as ‘vexatious’; 

 
(d) there had been an incident where Councillor Jones escalated an 

incident that was, in her view, being professionally dealt with by Helen 
Whittaker. She felt the content of Councillor Jones’ communication 
was curt, rude and critical not only to Ms Whittaker but to others, 
including the Town Clerk who, as Ms Whittaker’s line manager, made 
attempts to challenge Councillor Jones’ behaviour; 

 
(e) since June 2016 she had spoken to a number of staff who had 

indicated that Councillor Jones’ behaviour was such that they insisted 
on having two people present when he attended the office; 

 
(f) there had been an incident when she had attended the Town Hall to 

see Kate Shtrezi very upset after she had been confronted by 
Councillor Jones. At that time she had challenged Councillor Jones, 
informing him that his criticism was unjustifiable; 

 
(g) there had been another incident when Councillor Jones had taken it 

upon himself to criticise and challenge the Town Clerk regarding 
movement of containers in the Memorial park; 

 
(h) she had again had to intervene in speaking to the parties concerned 

with the containers and found the criticism again invalid as the Town 
Clerk was following instruction and was acting within Standing Order 
guidance; 

 
(i) she was aware that Councillor Jones’ behaviour had left staff 

demoralised and dispirited, feeling vulnerable and susceptible due to 
his bullying.  One member of staff had been signed of ill due directly in 
part to his bullying. This was inappropriate behaviour from an elected 
councillor; 

 
(j) Councillor Jones showed continued distain for the Town Clerk, 

refusing to see anything positive within the administration and showed 
a lack of knowledge or contempt of the Codes of Conduct; 
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(k) she has been approached by other councillors who were upset by 

Councillor Jones’ inappropriate behaviour towards them and towards 
others in the Council; 

 
(l) the atmosphere that had been created by Councillor Jones was 

poisonous; 
 

(m) the hostility and disharmony caused by Councillor Jones was reducing 
the confidence in the role of councillor and the perceived lack of action 
against such behaviour adversely affected the reputation of the Town 
Council. 

 
Councillor Dominic Ferro 

 
4.22 Councillor Ferro was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which 

a statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 17). 
Councillor Ferro stated that: 

 
(a) he was a Labour Borough Councillor with North Warwickshire Borough 

Council and covered the area of Coleshill North. He had been a 
Councillor for six years. Between the years of 2013 – 2014 he was 
Mayor for North Warwickshire; 

 
(b) he felt he needed to identify a course of action undertaken by 

Councillor Jones that had spanned such a period it could not be taken 
in isolation; 

 
(c) there had been an incident when he was Mayor when he had spoken 

to Councillor Jones, who was then a trader, showing support for local 
business. This ended with Councillor Ferro challenging the then Mr 
Jones for inappropriate use of his photograph. Since that incident 
Councillor Jones has  been ‘obnoxious, rude and arrogant’ towards 
him; 

 
(d) he was wary of engaging with Councillor Jones as he invariably  

‘attacked’ Councillor Ferro verbally and through social media; 
 

(e) there had been an incident on social media, Facebook, in September 
2016 when Councillor Jones had lied about Park Equipment. This was 
a protracted trail, identifying both parties as councillors; 

 
(f) he felt so aggrieved by the tone and perceived incorrect information 

that he logged this as a complaint with the Town Clerk; 
 

(g) due to Councillor Jones’ behaviour he sought to avoid contact with 
him, other than within a Council arena; 

 
(h) there had been an incident in December 2016 when he had attended 

the Coleshill Xmas Fayre with his mother. Councillor Jones made 
contact with him at this event.  Councillor Jones’ attendance at the 
Fayre was within his role as Councillor as he was with others and was 
part of the Carnival Committee; 

 
(i) Councillor Jones referred to him saying “Hello Fatboy”, followed up by 

pushing his chest out and pushing him repeatedly. Colleagues of 
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Councillor Jones pulled him away and verbally disassociated 
themselves from the incident; 

 
(j) other members of the community must have seen the incident. That, 

along with his continued aggressive presence on social media, 
barraging anyone who conflicted with him, was not what was expected 
of an elected official. 

 
Councillor Harry Taylor 
 
4.23 Councillor Taylor was interviewed by means of telephone interview from 

which a statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at 
WC 18). Councillor Taylor stated that: 
 
(a) he was a Labour Councillor on Coleshill Town Council and had 

undertaken this role since 2011. He had undertaken the role of Mayor  
between 2014 and 2015 and sat on the Council’s Resources 
Committee; 

 
(b) many of the incidents relating to Councillor Jones originate prior to 15 

June 2015 but continued to the present; 
 

(c) there had been a previous incident relating to a Love Coleshill meeting 
where Councillor Jones had dominated the meeting to such an extent 
that people were upset and in tears. Councillor Jones was expelled 
from the group which was, in his words, ‘destroyed’. However, it is 
now re-growing; 

 
(d) he had personally seen Councillor Jones  shout down the Town Clerk, 

speak over people, glaring and shouting at them, even to the extent 
where he caused members of his own party to fall in line; 

 
(e) in an email to Steve Maxey of 16 June 2016 he had referred to 

Councillor Jones saying, “he is becoming increasingly unhinged”, 
concluding that the Town Clerk was finding it very difficult to carry out 
even basic tasks without vexatious interference from Councillor Jones; 

 
(f) the Council has received complaints from Moore Environment stating 

they were furious that Councillor Jones was criticising them through 
social media. Labour and Independent members voted to remove 
Councillor Jones from the Memorial Park working group; 

 
(g) Councillor Jones’ public and private rudeness to the Town Clerk was 

disgusting and he was surprised that the Town Clerk had not resigned 
due to this treatment; 

 
(h) he drew attention to a stream of emails from Councillor Jones and had 

asked him repeatedly to stop emailing him or copying everyone else 
(councillors) into email threads; 

 
(i) he had asked Councillor Jones to stop emailing him due to their 

aggressive, rude and confrontational tone. Councillor Jones refused 
without official directive; 

 
(j) in an extensive email on 13 September 2016, outlining to Councillor 

Jones the reasoning behind his request to cease contact, he 
highlighted that he felt the behaviour of Councillor Jones frustrated the 
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running of the Council and gave the appearance to the public that the 
Council no longer ran efficiently; 

 
(k) he felt that the behaviours displayed by Councillor Jones were not 

isolated and were in fact a shared ordeal, encouraging them to not 
feel bullied and to stand up for decency and themselves; 

 
(l) he had personally seen the Town Clerk being continually bullied by 

Councillor Jones in person and in emails; 
 

(m) the demands of Councillor Jones towards the Town Clerk were 
vexatious and to such a level that he did not have a ‘hope in hell’ of 
doing his job; 

 
(n) Councillor Jones used social media  to constantly attack Council policy 

and tried to undermine the Town Council in a public arena; 
 

(o) he had heard comment from the public referring to the Council as 
‘Clowns’ and that the ‘Circus is already in Town’; 

 
(p) the thought of coming forward had given him sleepless nights, 

worrying about being attacked and bullied by Councillor Jones to an 
extent where he had moved house to get away from constant attack; 

 
(q) he concluded in saying that the behaviour of Councillor Jones was 

‘soul destroying’, fearing that the Town Clerk and others may resign 
should the issue not be resolved. 

 
Councillor Adam Farrell 

 
4.24 Councillor Farrell was interviewed by means of telephone interview from 

which a statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at 
WC 19). Councillor  Farrell  stated that: 
 
(a) he was a Labour Councillor with Coleshill Town Council and had been 

so since 2011. He was also the Leader of the Labour Group and also 
fulfilled the role of a Borough Councillor; 

 
(b) Councillor Jones had an aggressive personality and got fixated 

without evidence. He felt that Councillor Jones provided opposition for 
oppositions sake; 

 
(c) he felt that Councillor Jones had a Jekyll and Hyde personality, 

displaying a different character at Borough Council than that at Town 
Council; 

 
(d) he made a formal complaint to Steve Maxey in June 2016 stating that 

Councillor Jones’ behaviour fell short of that required within the Nolan 
Principles, stating he was aggressive, obstructive and intimidating and 
that he failed to abide by Council decisions and Standing orders; 

 
(e) Councillor Jones had breached Standing Orders in that he had 

attended the Memorial Park and had given contractors instructions 
identifying himself as a councillor, thus breaching the order that 
prohibits members inspecting land without prior delegation; 
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(f) Councillor Jones had attended the Memorial Park and confronted 
contractors.  He had attended a Friends of the Memorial Park meeting, 
causing upset and the group to fold.  He had upset the main 
contractor Sue Moore, Moore Environment in his presence by being 
impolite and domineering; 

 
(g) the behaviour of Councillor Jones had affected Sue Moore to an 

extent where she had gone from being full of energy and enthusiasm 
to being ‘head down’ and monotone.  He felt Councillor Jones has 
destroyed her confidence; 

 
(h) Councillor Jones was hostile to anyone involved in the Memorial Park 

project; 
 

(i) there had been a drawn out social media exchange in October 2016 
when Councillor Jones had used a community Facebook page to air 
his political views and attack the Council and other councillors 
regarding a community bonfire. This had included making a 
proclamation which included blatant lies; 

 
(j) Councillor Jones did not follow Council procedure regarding the 

declaration of interests, citing  an incident where damage was caused 
to Council land and voting on grant awards when he had had 
involvement in both groups; 

 
(k) he had seen Councillor Jones bully and harass a member of the 

Conservative Party to such an extent that the member crossed the 
floor, joining Labour.  This behaviour of such intensity that the 
member, when offered a lift, asked if he could hide in the boot of a car 
rather than risk being seen by Councillor Jones; 

 
(l) he felt Councillor Jones’ behaviour has escalated out of control; 

 
(m) he felt that Councillor Jones had focussed on pay and conditions, 

relentlessly pursuing the Town Clerk with incessant questions and 
challenges; 

 
(n) he felt that the tone of emails from Councillor Jones was inappropriate 

stating, ‘interspersing his aggressive narrative with capital letters. I can 
almost see him screaming at his computer’; 

 
(o) he felt that the behaviour of Councillor Jones towards staff and in 

particular, the Town Clerk, was causing them to disengage; 
 

(p) he concluded by saying the morale and standards at Coleshill Town 
Council were deteriorating and that it was impacting on service 
delivery. He felt that people were suffering at the hands of Councillor 
Jones and feared they may suffer stress or leave. 

 
Councillor Adam Richardson 
 
4.25 Councillor Richardson was interviewed by means of telephone interview from 

which a statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at 
WC 20). Councillor  Richardson  stated that: 
 
(a) he was a Labour Councillor with Coleshill Town Council and had been 

a councillor for two years; 
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(b) it was important to note that prior to December 2016 he was a 

Conservative Councillor with Coleshill Town Council. He said that a 
continuous course of bullying behaviour undertaken towards him by 
Councillor Jones was the singular reason for him believing his position 
was untenable and had resulted in his crossing the floor to the Labour 
Group; 

 
(c) on 16 June 2016 he contacted Steve Maxey, raising a formal 

complaint relating to the behaviour of Councillor Jones stating, ‘he fails 
to meet the Nolan Principles, operates in an aggressive, obstructive 
and intimidating manner and fails to abide by Council decisions’; 

 
(d) he also raised a complaint regarding Councillor Jones inspecting 

Council land without prior delegation; 
 

(e) in extensive emails Councillor Jones had informed him that the 
Conservative Party had said “I’ve just been told I’m a naughty boy, 
and that the party have told him to behave”; 

 
(f) he highlighted an incident during August 2016 on Coleshill High Street 

relating to the Coleshill Star Awards where Councillor Jones had 
confronted him, using his physical presence and loud voice, ‘belittling 
him’ in the presence of the public; 

 
(g) he had attempted to talk to Councillor Jones about his behaviour as 

advised by Stacey Ingram. When he had he stated Councillor Jones 
laughed it off saying “its the way he was” and “get used to it, its 
politics, grow a pair”; 

 
(h) Councillor Jones had made many telephone calls to him to belittle him 

and avoid any evidential trail; 
 

(i) There had been an incident when he had told Councillor Jones he had 
aspirations to become Mayor. Again Councillor Jones took the 
opportunity to belittle him saying, “You don’t look the part to be a 
Mayor”; 

 
(j) Councillor Jones had told him he could make his life hell in the Council  

and constantly used his position as Leader of the Conservative party 
in Coleshill so he made sure it was Councillor Jones who was in 
charge; 

 
(k) he concluded by saying the behaviour of Councillor Jones has 

affected him so much he has considered stepping down as a 
councillor but feels he should not be beaten by Councillor Jones and 
must stand his ground. 

 
Mr Dewi Jones 
 
4.26 Mr Jones was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 21). Mr 
Jones stated that:- 
 
(a) he was the Managing Director of Greensleeves Lawncare with offices 

based at, The Blue Box, Storage Solutions, Station Road, Coleshill; 
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(b) Greensleaves Lawncare had won a contract with Coleshill Town 
Council in December 2016. The contract was to maintain and repair 
football pitches. This contract was supported by Councillor Jones; 

 
(c) Councillor Jones attended his offices on 18 October 2016 and 

confronted him face to face in what could be described as a violent 
and aggressive manner, using foul language, stating he should ‘mind 
his f’ing business’ and that he ‘didn’t know what was going on in the 
f’ing Council’; 

 
(d) during that protracted incident he had felt threatened and also that the 

situation may have resorted to violence on the part of Councillor 
Jones, 

 
(e) The content of this confrontation and behaviour caused him to raise a 

formal complaint with Steve Maxey; 
 

(f) he said that Councillor Jones operated a business, B46 Print, from the 
same office complex as he did and highlighted conversations 
regarding the use of land for the firework display and bonfire; 

 
(g) he used social media and described an interaction on Facebook,  

identifying confrontational threads where Councillor Jones had 
identified himself as a councillor and related negatively to the Council, 
other councillors and referred to Council minutes in a negative 
manner; 

 
(h) he referred to an email to Steve Maxey on 14 November 2016 in 

which he described Councillor Jones as ‘challenging’ and ‘rude, 
highlighting reference to a £1,000 grant from Coleshill Town Council 
towards the fireworks; 

 
(i) he felt that Councillor Jones was out of control and was a vulgar and 

ferocious man damaging the reputation of the Town Council; 
 
(j) he identified derogatory comments made by Councillor Jones 

regarding Councillors Harry Taylor, Adam Farrell and Sue Gascoigne, 
individually; 

 
(k) he closed stating “I do not expect a representative of the Council to 

storm into my workplace and release a tirade of abuse and foul 
language in such a threatening manner” and asked the Council to take 
action to curb his aggressive nature. 

 
Ms Sue Moore 
 
4.27 Ms Moore was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 22). Ms 
Moore stated that: 
 
(a) she was a Chartered Landscape Architect, Environmental Consultant 

and Environmental Coordinator with Moore Environment of which 
company she held the position of Director; 

 
(b) she had over 30 years experience in that profession and had 

undertaken several major schemes and projects. As director she 
managed and monitored the social media profile of the company; 
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(c) Moore Environment were appointed consultants by Coleshill Town 

Council with reference to the Memorial Park Project; 
 
(d) as consultants they undertook community consultation and worked 

with the Council through the tender process with successful applicants 
and appointments being approved by the full Council; 

 
(e) she was part of a working group to discuss design, development and 

tenders.  Councillor Jones was also part of that group; 
 
(f) at the first meeting Councillor Jones stated he was unhappy with the 

project but did not expand on his criticism. At meetings he was 
challenging and demanding, even when matters had already been 
agreed; 

 
(g) Councillor Jones’ involvement in the decision making process 

including the approval of the tender award for the works and he had 
praised the report recommending its transparency and thoroughness 
of process; 

 
(h) she was aware of negative Facebook threads, highlighting comments 

such as ‘nobody seems to know what’s going on’ and ‘badly managed’ 
which gave the impression that details were kept secret and that he 
had no involvement in the tender process, which was factually 
incorrect; 

 
(i) she had received reports from contractors that Councillor Jones had 

visited the site and criticised work being undertaken, again stating that 
he had no involvement in the approval process; 

 
(j) on occasion Councillor Jones’ attendance had stopped work and 

required management attendance to resolve issues and give direction; 
 
(k) she did not respond on social media due to her professional profile. 

However, she reported the actions of Councillor Jones to the Town 
Clerk as conduit between contractors and the Council; 

 
(l) the clear use of the social media platform by Councillor Jones was that 

of a councillor, to reach out to the community, and not as a private 
individual; 

 
(m) she explained the role of the Friends of the Memorial Park (FOMP) 

and their capacity to access external future development funding 
unavailable to the Council; 

 
(n) she identified an email dated 14 September 2016 in which she stated 

she would be unable to attend a FOMP meeting until action was taken 
to manage Councillor Jones’ behaviour. She highlighted his hostility 
and negativity at group meetings and identified his behaviour as the 
reason for the FOMP folding; 

 
(o) as a result of the FOMP folding, Councillor Jones’ behaviour had 

caused significant harm regarding potential grant and funding 
opportunities and that it had a wider impact regarding community 
opportunities relating to health and wellbeing; 
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(p) she found working with Councillor Jones ‘stressful’, his constant 
challenging and demand for information was unworkable; 

 
(q) Councillor Jones had implied that another contractor, Jack Moody, 

was ripping us (the Council) off and that he could get materials and 
work done cheaper.  She found this behaviour undermining and 
offensive; 

 
(r) she had never seen such behaviour displayed in her experience of 

working with public authorities and had never seen such hostility for a 
project; 

 
(s) she had raised her complaint with specific regard to the displayed 

behaviours towards the FOMP, contractors and the fact that Councillor 
Jones appeared to be working against the community benefitting from 
such projects; 

 
(t) she closed by identifying the negative impact that Councillor Jones 

had regarding the perception of the work of the Councillors and the 
Council. 

 
Mr Declan Rooney 
 
4.28 Mr Rooney was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 23). Mr 
Rooney stated that: 
 
(a) he was a Landscape Architect, Environmental Consultant and 

Environmental Coordinator with Moore environment.  He has 10 years 
experience in landscape architecture and had worked with Moore 
Environment for 3½ years; 

  
(b) his role was that of managing works and on site project management 

whilst acting as liaison between the Town Council, the public and 
contractors; 

 
(c) he explained the consultation and tender process along with the 

approval of contracts and master plan by the full Council; 
 
(d) Councillor Jones was part of the working group set up to act as a 

conduit between, the public, contractors and the Council; 
 
(e) he felt his key role was to foster good relations between interested 

parties; 
 
(f) at the first meeting with Councillor Jones, Councillor Jones had 

identified that he was unhappy with the project. Councillor Jones’ 
conduct at working group meetings was challenging and demanding 
and often about issues already resolved; 

 
(g) Councillor Jones was part of the working group that approved tender 

documentation and the recommendations for the successful tenderer; 
 
(h) he was made aware that Councillor Jones was less than 

complementary about the project and its management on social 
media; 
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(i) he had received several reports from site staff that Councillor Jones 
had attended the Memorial Park Project and given criticism. He felt 
Councillor Jones also left staff in a confused state as to how to 
proceed, causing him to have to attend the site and resolve issues; 

 
(j) his attendance at the site on a number of occasions had caused Sue 

Moore to complain to the Town Clerk relating specifically to the 
negativity and interference of Councillor Jones; 

 
(k) Councillor Jones had a negative impact on the process, causing 

delays and confusion on site; 
 
(l) he closed by saying that the behaviour of Councillor Jones did not 

benefit the community and that he would expect more from an elected 
official. 

 
Ms Marie Brotheridge 

 
4.29 Ms Brotheridge was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which 

a statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 24). 
Ms Brotheridge stated that: 
 
(a) she was the Secretary of the Coleshill Cricket Club, a resident of 

Coleshill and until September 2016 had been the Secretary of the 
Friends of the Memorial Park (FOMP); 

 
(b) she had become involved with the FOMP as she had an interest in her 

community; 
 
(c) she had attended three meetings in total before resigning; 
 
(d) the first two meetings were as ‘on the whole positive’, focussing 

around raising money for the project and the future; 
 
(e) the third meeting was held in September 2016 at the Coleshill Cricket 

Club.  There were a lot of people in attendance along with Councillor 
Jones; 

 
(f) Councillor Jones really upset things at that meeting, sneering about 

the Park project and monopolising the meeting. He had shown 
contempt regarding the other Town Councillors ‘sneering’, and stating 
‘even I haven’t seen updated plans for the park’; 

 
(g) he had encouraged dissent in the attendees, and had taken over the 

meeting, diverting it away from positive discussion; 
 
(h) he had cut off the groups speakers, talking over them and talking 

loudly so as to dominate the meeting; 
 
(i) he was rude and unnecessary. Others had tried to interject, however, 

Councillor Jones spoke over them; 
 
(j) he made it clear from his narrative that he was a councillor and barked 

his answers at the panel, clearly putting his role on show; 
 
(k) he had enjoyed how he had undermined the group and embarrassed 

her, ‘he had a grin on his face like a bully’; 
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(l) he was so domineering that he had put her off to such an extent she 

would never get involved again; 
 
(m) on 14 September 2016 she had sent an extensive email to the Town 

Clerk complaining about Councillor Jones, stating ‘is it right that he 
should attend these meetings in his capacity of a councillor’; 

 
(n) she highlighted that his behaviour had made her frustrated and very 

angry; 
 
(o) she had spoken to the Chairman and Treasurer of FOMP and they all 

agreed that they could not carry on and highlighted that someone 
acting as a councillor changed the focus of the group; 

 
(p) Councillor Jones had taken over the meeting as his platform; 
 
(q) she was deeply upset in that she felt she could contribute to the Town 

but that had been taken away and her confidence was damaged; 
 
(r) she closed by highlighting that she had resigned because of the 

pressure placed on her and the rest of the group by Councillor Jones.  
She felt that Councillor Jones should not be a councillor. 

 
Ms Julie Gregory 
 
4.30 Ms Gregory was interviewed by means of telephone interview from which a 

statement was formulated and subsequently signed (attached at WC 25). Ms 
Gregory stated that: 
 
(a) she was a resident of Coleshill and worked within Coleshill Town 

Council; 
 
(b) she had been keen to become the Treasurer of FOMP and keen to 

promote its use.  She saw it as a way of benefitting the communities of 
Coleshill; 

 
(c) Councillor Jones had attended the FOMP meeting of September 2016 

with a number of members of the public.  He had turned a normally 
pleasant meeting into an unpleasant and negative meeting; 

 
(d) he had riled up members of the public stating that money for the park 

had been spent wrongly; 
 
(e) his negativity and encouragement caused the public to bombard the 

panel with questions; 
 
(f) Councillor Jones had stated that people had not been properly 

consulted and that the project had been badly managed; 
 
(g) Councillor Jones had spoken clearly on Council matters, making it 

clear he was a councillor throughout the meeting; 
 
(h) she was annoyed and embarrassed and felt the panel had had to 

defend themselves, placing the reason for hostility being the 
encouragement of Councillor Jones; 

 



CONFIDENTIAL REPORT 

V2 
Page 27 of 46 

(i) his bullying attitude and cajoling the public annoyed her; 
 
(j) she felt the resignation en-masse was sad and felt that FOMP could 

have been a positive thing for Coleshill. 
 

4.31 Mr Ford-Terry was interviewed by means of a telephone interview from which 
a statement was formulated (attached at WC 26).  At the time of submitting 
this report this statement has not been signed.  We have considered what 
weight can be attached to Mr Ford-Terry’s statement.  Though obtained as a 
result of a telephone interview, in our view less weight should be attached to 
the statement because Mr Ford-Terry did not sign it.  Its content is neither 
corroborated nor disputed by other evidence.  It has been included to indicate 
the extent of enquiries made in relation to the allegations against Councillor 
Jones that he had an interest in the printing contract. Mr Ford-Terry stated 
that: 
 
(a) he was a builder and ran a company by the name of ‘Attention to 

Detail’. He was based in Coleshill and, in addition to his building 
interests, he undertook voluntary work including involvement in  
Coleshill in Bloom and the Coleshill Carnival; 
 

(b) whilst on the Coleshill in Bloom committee he met Councillor Jones 
when he was placed on that committee as a Council representative. 
Later, Councillor Jones joined the Coleshill Carnival Committee and 
took on the role of vice Chair; 

 
(c) as part of the Carnival process the committee were looking to 

advertise the project. They asked Councillor Jones to put prices 
together for the aforementioned products. They had also looked at 
other providers; 

 
(d) any discussions regarding money were had without Councillor Jones 

being present as they did not want to compromise his position; 

 
(e) the price Councillor Jones quoted blew the other ‘out of the water’. 

The price could only have given him a marginal profit, if any. It looked 
like they got charged for materials and overheads only. The committee 
actually assisted in folding and preparation of the items.  
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5. Summary of the material facts  
 
5.1 Mark Jones was a Conservative Councillor and a member of Coleshill Town 

Council with a responsibility for Coleshill South Ward.  
 

5.2 Councillor Jones was elected into this position in May 2015. He was also a 
member of North Warwickshire Borough Council. 

 
5.3 Interviews and subsequent signed statements would indicate oppressive, 

relentless and bullying conduct towards the Town Clerk, Colin Greatorex.   
 
5.4 There is clear indication from witness statements and accounts that 

Councillor Jones interfered with the implementation of and negatively 
influenced public perception regarding the Coleshill Memorial Park Project. 
This was a result of his attendance and behaviour at meetings, causing the 
collapse and resignation en-masse of the Friends of the Memorial Park.  
 

5.5 Moore Environment, being the company tasked with delivering the Memorial 
Park Project, was subjected to ongoing demands and interference by 
Councillor Jones both on site, with sub contractors and staff, and by 
questions and demands for information. This conduct was at such a level that 
it caused additional work and invariably reduced the ability to progress 
onwards with the project.  

 
5.6 Councillor Jones attended Mr Dewi Jones’ offices and subjected him to a 

verbal attack, incorporating foul and abusive language, as well as threatening 
behaviour.  
 

5.7 The behaviours of Councillor Jones towards Coleshill Town Council staff 
resulted in staff adapting office procedures.  Staff would ensure that they 
were in at least pairs when in the presence of Councillor Jones so that there 
was an additional witness to his behaviour.  Staff felt it necessary to reduce 
interaction with Councillor Jones and provide support for each other in 
response to Councillor Jones’ behaviour, in particular, to Colin Greatorex. 
 

5.8 The accounts of other councillors all give similar narratives to the behaviours 
of Councillor Jones. The behaviours described are concurrent with that of 
Council staff and independent members of the public, describing aggressive 
and confrontational behaviours by Councillor Jones and indicating that his 
role within the Conservative party places him in a position of influence, above 
some other councillors, and in a position of outright conflict with others.  

 
5.9 Enquiries into Council process regarding disclosure of personal interest 

clearly identifies that there are discrepancies in the disclosures provided by 
Councillor Jones, in particular, in relation to his involvement in B46 Print and 
the provision of goods and services to the Coleshill Carnival.  
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6. Additional Submissions 
 
6.1 The following comments were received from Colin Greatorex on the draft 

version of this report: 
 

“There are no changes I would seek when referring to the text which 
covers my own tele interview.  
 
As a minor matter of detail, there is a reference in another's tele 
interview to "Sue Gascoigne." She is a Town Councillor and is known 
by her marital name of Sue Wallace, for clarification. 
 
I have an observation on the disclosable pecuniary interest conclusion 
reached (sections 7.50, 7.51 and 7.52). It seems that you have 
recognised that Cllr. Jones received payment in the guise of 'B46 
Print', a matter not disclosed. To not disclose a disclosable pecuniary 
interest is a legal matter. This is taken from the NALC guidance: 
 
Criminal Offences 
There are a number of potential criminal offences associated with: 
• the failure to register or disclose a DPI 
• discussion and/or voting on a DPI. 
Successful prosecutions can result in a fine of £5000 and 
disqualification for five years from your local council and from other 
local authorities. 
 
Firstly, to not disclose the 'B46 Print' interest is therefore a potential 
criminal offence (first bullet point above).  
 
Secondly, I would maintain you have evidence that Cllr. Jones 
challenged work at the Memorial Park wearing his Coleshill Carnival 
Committee "hat". His interference on site and challenge of Town 
Council actions sought to gain benefit for the Carnival Committee 
where he stood to gain financially through carnival entry and thereby 
the entry programme sales where he was the supplier. In doing so he 
was "discussing" matters where he had a DPI (second bullet). 
 
Please advise: 
 Do you agree with my assertions? 
 If so, should these therefore form part of your conclusion? 
 If not within the remit of your reporting of the code of conduct, will 

you assist with taking forward the criminal actions, if agreed, for 
the Monitoring Officer? 

 
Regards 
Colin Greatorex” 

 
Response to Comments 

 
6.2 Mr Greatorex submitted comments on the draft report. These comments 

focus around the issues of disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI). This issue 
has been considered within the report at 7.50, 7.51 and 7.52 as mentioned by 
Mr Greatorex.   
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6.3 Further to this, Mr Greatorex outlines issues of potential criminal offences that 
fall within the area of failure to disclose a DPI.  
 

6.4 We have considered the information available and have discussed this, along 
with the fact that Councillor Jones has now resigned, with the MO Steve 
Maxey. The MO has indicated that he wished the investigation to be 
concluded in a proportionate manner. We consider it is not proportionate or 
productive to pursue allegations concerning possible interests further. 
 

6.5 The MO has indicated that the final report will be presented to the Standards 
Board for consideration as to further action, if any. 

 
6.6 We have carefully considered the evidence in this case together with the 

supplementary information provided by Mr Greatorex. We have not changed 
our findings in this report. 
 

6.7 The following comments were received from Dewi Jones on the draft version 
of this report:- 
 

“many thanks for the report. 
I am shocked to see so many people being negatively affected by this 
person, now that he has “chosen” to resign they may be able to get on 
with their lives and continue their work for the Town and Borough.  
 
When will this report hit the public domain and published? 
 
regards 
Dewi” 

 
Response to Comments 

 
6.8 We have noted the comments of Mr Jones and as such have not changed our 

findings in the report. 
 

6.9 The following comments were received from Sue Moore on the draft version 
of this report:- 
 

“My comments on the Draft Report are below. Please do not hesitate 
to contact me if you need any further information or clarification:- 
 
4.27 g Councillor Jones (CJ) involvement in the decision making 
process including the approval of the tender award for the works and 
he had praised the report recommending the award saying it 
 
4.27 j On occasion – not many occasions 
 
4.27 n …in which she would be unable to attend.. (not had refused) 
 
4.27 o As a result of FOMP folding Councillor Jones’ behaviour… 
 
4.28 j …on a number of occasions…. 
 
 
NB – Mrs Marie Brotheridge – not Sue 
 
5.4 cannot agree with ‘sought the demise of’ perhaps ‘interfere with 
the implementation and negatively influence public perception’ 
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5.5 Cannot agree with ‘subjected to such demands and relentless 
interference’ perhaps ‘ subjected to ongoing demands and 
interference’ 
 
5.5 …invariable reduced the ability…. 
 
7.29 Cannot agree that he ‘bullied’ contractors and staff of Moore 
Environment – we had very little face to face contact. He was very 
disruptive to the contractor and his manner could be described as 
bullying to them – but in the terms of the definition it didn’t ‘undermine 
an individual or a group of individuals, it is detrimental to their 
confidence and capability, and may adversely affect their health’ The 
comment about bullying the members of FOMP however is correct. 
 
Kind regards 
Sue Moore” 

 
Response to Comments 
 
6.10 With regard to the comments made by Ms Sue Moore on the report. We have 

corrected any typographical errors within the report as identified and 
amended where appropriate the wording within the narrative to adequately 
reflect her sentiment and that of Moore Environment. 
 

6.11 We have again carefully considered the evidence and looked into the areas 
where she has indicated she did not agree with the narrative, this again has 
been altered where appropriate to reflect her views. 

 
6.12 With respect to the comments on the draft report made by Ms Moore our 

reflections are such that we have not changed our overall findings within this 
report. 
 

6.13 On 11 August the following comments were received from Mark Jones on the 
draft version of this report:- 
 

“Thank You for your letter dated 27th July and received on 28th July 
and which contains a bundle of papers. 
 
First, may I say your tone throughout the report is derogatory to myself 
and one sided and makes allegations that are unfounded which starts 
with your comment that you have found a breach of the code of 
conduct. 
 
I was informed from the start of this enquiry by Steve Maxey and 
indeed by Terry Ball and yourself that your job was simply to put the 
facts into a report which would then be 
forwarded to the decision-making body. You have failed to do so and 
with the Breach of the code of conduct being an ALLEDGED breach 
and not proven you have made an opinion. It is not your job to offer 
opinion of guilt, you are NOT judge and jury, you are not the decision 
making body, yet throughout the report you present one side of the 
story and make unfounded allegations and opinions and fail in your 
duties to provide a level report for the information of the final body. 
 
You have failed in looking at in particular the witnesses who have 
made telephone statements and their backgrounds omitting the facts 
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that one is involved in the pornographic industry and is hardly a 
reliable witness, one is now not involved in Politics in Coleshill, has 
had complaints made against him which were not dealt with ( NOT by 
me by members of the public) and one other has had a number of 
complaints made against him again by members of the public and are 
points that have not even been looked at. Do you not think this affects 
the integrity of the so-called evidence? They all present evidence 
which attacks my integrity without the ability for me to question those 
attacks. I will be contacting them separately with responses. Most of 
the witnesses are also on one side of the Political spectrum a point 
which I think is important and proves a targeted campaign against me 
who is on the opposite bench. It should be of note that only 3 of the 
councillors on Coleshill Town Council have even made a statement, 
one is one of who made the complaint, one who has transferred to the 
opposite political spectrum. It is interesting that neither last years or 
this year’s Mayor have commented and who are probably the most 
respected and established councillors. I would suggest that is because 
the also do not agree with the complaint or its contents. So only 3 of 
10 councillors have replied to this complaint. 
 
The civilian sides of your contacts namely Moore Environmental have 
a total conflict of interest and of course will not agree with me as I 
questioned their prices and managing of the project. You have failed 
to contact any other civilians who have complained several times. This 
is pure bias. 
 
I have never seen such a one-sided report which offers evidence from 
one side only and offers statements from one side of the enquiry. I find 
it disgusting and a waste of taxpayers’ money. I totally disagree with 
its findings which is what they are and dispute them in their entirety. I 
consider your methods of obtaining the evidence from the witnesses 
leading and biased and certainly not within any evidence rules when 
interviews are on the phone. Were these recorded if so may I have a 
copy please? If they are not recorded then they should have been and 
this highlights more concern. 
 
I know you stated previously that this enquiry is not criminal so doesn’t 
have to go by evidential rules but surely if that is the case then the 
evidence is incorrect wrong and not of any value at all. There does 
seem to have been a trial here but you can be assured the other 50% 
of the evidence is rather revealing as well and tells the truth. You have 
omitted this evidence from your enquiry and surely professional 
competence should mean you look at it. 
 
Moving to your paragraph on confidential. Please can you forward to 
me where it states IN LAW that this document should be confidential. I 
have had this discussion with you before and this enquiry should be 
totally transparent and I encourage that. There are many lies from the 
statements provided and I will be following those issues up and if they 
are to be in Public view then so be it and I will do exactly that. 
However, if you send me evidence that the LAW states it must be 
confidential I will of course consider it. Please send this by return 
otherwise I will take it I am free to discuss with whoever I see fit. I 
would also like an explanation why this so called confidential rule does 
not apply to Councillor [redacted] who has already publicly revealed 
the enquiry on social Media. It seems there are rules for one but not 
the other. 
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This investigation has not been carried out in a fair way in fact in my 
opinion is quite the opposite. I sincerely believed this enquiry would 
not be continuing after my resignation and I have since my resignation 
heard absolutely nothing from either yourself or Maxey in respect of 
the enquiry continuing and in fact I was under the impression that it 
had simply expired! I have not been given the chance to be 
interviewed, I have several areas that I consider important and 
relevant to this enquiry and the only reason ONE interview was 
cancelled was because of my impending resignation from the Council 
for personal reasons. I do not consider one interview cancelled is fair 
reason to simply not do it I find that incompetent and unfair. As for 
answering written questions this again is unfair and I do wish to be 
interviewed. 
 
I will make myself available for interview once more, bearing in mind I 
thought this was not continuing. You can be assured that I dispute 
your report in many areas and wish to present my case as it should be 
and at least be offered the opportunity for you to present an unbiased 
case which is not the current report. This enquiry has been going on 
for over a year now and I have been treated with contempt since day 1 
and treated extremely unfairly. 
 
In respect of making comments on your report I will be doing more 
than that I will prepare further evidence which will conflict with your 
opinion and alleged evidence you have provided. It now seems that 
we have a plaintiff and defendant situation which is certainly not what 
the Taxpayer was paying for and I wonder who is the plaintiff and who 
is the defendant here as certainly in my view the complainants are not 
innocent or the officers of the council. I find this ludicrous. 
 
There are many factors in this case which have not been provided to 
you by Maxey as it is not in your report. 
 
Who do I present this report to? You are simply a contractor to NWBC 
and the taxpayer so should it be to you and will you then be looking at 
that further evidence and indeed several further witnesses that need 
to be interviewed to offer the opposite side of opinion and further 
evidence? I must say that after seeing this report I doubt your 
impartiality to the enquiry and am concerned as to the use of large 
amounts of taxpayer’s money and the presentation of this case from 
both sides. 
 
My final point is that this enquiry with false allegations has affected 
myself and my family both financially and emotionally leaving us in a 
very difficult situation and I feel bullied by the authority and treated 
extremely unfairly. They have offered no duty of care at all which in my 
opinion they should do so to elected councillors and have presumed 
guilt from the start. I have tried to assist in it to the best of my ability 
but considering we have had only a couple of phone calls and a few 
letters I have had little else or an opportunity to put my side forward 
and the opportunity to point you in the direction of other people who 
have evidence in respect of. 
 
I sincerely hope you will be contacting me to arrange an interview. 
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I await your response. 
 
Mark Jones” 
 

6.14 We responded to Councillor Jones by email on 18 August in the following 
terms:- 
 

“Dear Mr Jones, 
 
Thank you for your comments on the draft report, received on 11th 
August. 
 
I note your comments and these will be included in full in the final 
version of the report together with our response to those comments. 
 
You have asked that I respond to you concerning the confidentiality of 
the process. The contents of the report remains confidential until it is 
delivered to the Monitoring Officer. It is then for the Council to 
determine how the matter should be determined in accordance with its 
arrangements. Hearings normally take place in public but given that 
you have left office, it will be for the MO to consider how the matter is 
concluded. 
 
I understand you have raised the issue of Councillor [redacted] 
alleged disclosure of information relating to this matter and the MO 
has responded to you in early May. 
 
You have now asked for an interview, to adduce new evidence and 
that we should see additional witnesses identified by you. 
 
I wrote to you on 4th April to ask you for an interview date. You 
telephoned my colleague Gill Thompson on 10th April indicating that 
you would not be available until 18th – 22nd May. I emailed you on 13th 
April indicating that we could interview you in 19th May at 10.30 am at 
North Warwickshire District Council’s offices but that you had 
questions for us and additional witnesses for us to speak to. I asked 
you to let us have the questions you wanted to ask in advance so that 
we could consider then before 19th May. I also asked you for details of 
the witnesses you suggested we speak to, together with your reasons 
why we should do so. We would then be able to consider that before 
the interview. 
 
You did not respond to my email. Gill Thompson emailed you on 2nd 
May to ask you to confirm the interview date and time. You replied on 
4th May saying that you were preparing your responses to the 
disclosure bundle we had provided you with. You said you were 
awaiting information from the MO. Gill Thompson emailed you again 
on 5th May seeking your confirmation of the interview date and time. 
You replied on 15th May confirming your availability on 19th May. The 
time of the interview was confirmed to you by email the same day. You 
emailed on 18th May that you would not be able to attend. In view of 
your cancellation of the meeting, on 22nd May we sent you written 
questions for you to respond. We were then informed that you had 
resigned from office.  
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In the light of that, we sought instructions from the MO as to whether 
the investigation should be completed. We were instructed to 
recommence work on 13th June. Having heard nothing further from 
you, we issued a draft report on 27th July. 
 
You now say you want an interview and that have additional evidence 
and witnesses you wish to be seen. I am concerned that you are 
seeking to delay the completion of the investigation. At this late stage, 
I am not prepared to make arrangements for an interview. You can 
instead respond to the written questions sent to you on 22nd May. 
 
I will consider any additional evidence you provide and consider 
speaking to any additional witnesses you put forward if you provide:- 
 
1. The additional evidence 
2. the names, addresses and contact details for the suggested 

witnesses and your reasons why they should be contacted 
 
by Tuesday 29th August at 5 pm. Your responses to the written 
questions must also be provided by the same date and time. 
 
I regret that I am on leave and not contactable until 29th August. 
 
Regards, 
 
Jonathan Goolden” 

 
6.15 On 21 August the following comments were received from Mark Jones on the 

draft version of this report:- 
 

“Dear Mr Goolden  
 
Thank You for your response to my response received late on Friday 
the day you are going away, what a coincidence? Please can 
someone else deal with this in your absence as the deadline you state 
is the day you come back…… again another coincidence.  
 
The contents of the report relate to my integrity and me personally and 
I will be treating the confidentially side as I see fit FYI. It is noted you 
have not stated any law at all that relates to confidentiality as 
requested and seem only to answer questions or give opinion when it 
suits you. As you have not stated any law I take it there is none.  
 
Yes, I have raised the issue with the MO Maxey and I have also raised 
it with you. It does seem to be that there is bias towards one side of 
the enquiry and not the other and you seem to take that response 
also.  
 
I am fully aware of the times you wrote to me in respect of the 
interview which you should be aware is the time I was considering my 
position as a councillor and an interview was not the right thing to do 
at that stage. I was under the impression that the enquiry would be 
finished upon my resignation, you have failed to answer my question 
regarding your jurisdiction now I am not a councillor. These are 
internal matters, denied strenuously and you should not be making 
judgements. I note I have also asked you questions which you have 
failed to respond to and as you state in your response to my response 
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you will deliver those responses in your report. That is unfair and 
again bias you should be responding to me and allow me to have a 
chance to respond. I will be copying your stance and will provide my 
responses at the sight of the final report.  
 
Yes, I do require an interview It is only fair and unbiased for me to be 
able to offer the other side of the argument which is what your job is 
funded by the taxpayer.  
 
How dare you state “I am concerned you are seeking to delay the 
completion of this investigation “!! Please note the following FACTS;  
 
1. This enquiry started in June 2016 and since that date I have 

spoken with the MO in respect of my disgust at the length of time 
this enquiry has taken. Some of those meetings were with other 
members of the council including the leader of the council who 
also expressed concern. So, if you wish to dispute that Please do 
so.  

 
2. You were not appointed until October/November 2016  
 
3. A long period was spent on semantics deciding whether the 

Standing orders were not in place until the later date  
 
4. You have taken until now to provide even a preliminary report 

some 6-9 month after being appointed.  
 
5. You have now been asked as to what jurisdiction and right you 

should investigate me or indeed anyone when they are not a 
councillor as these are internal standing orders. I challenge your 
jurisdiction to continue with this enquiry.  

 
6. I don’t see you can quote delaying tactics without looking at the 
incompetence of the Monitoring Officer in this case who has failed on 
several promises supplied to me via email on length of this enquiry. I 
have no intention in delaying I have every intention of engaging in a 
fair and just enquiry. This enquiry currently is NOT and is bias. It is 
based on opinion of mostly opposite members of the political spectrum 
and by people who have challenges themselves. You also give an 
opinion which is not your job. I do note you have not answered all my 
queries and just answered the ones you seem fit. I will not be 
responding to written questions to you but will reply to any decision-
making body. I do not feel that you will treat the information fairly and 
you fail to do the same as per the first sentence of your reply where 
you do not answer my queries until the report.  
 
I also note you are asking for the names and addresses of the 
suggested witnesses and the reasons why they should be contacted. 
Can you tell me why the witnesses you have interviewed were 
contacted and who suggested them?  
 
Please provide me who I should prepare my evidence to, your 
deadline is irrelevant as you have no right to make deadlines. Who will 
be the decision-making body who you present this report to?  
 
Yours Sincerely  
Mark Jones” 
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Response to Comments 

 
6.16 We have carefully considered the responses of Mr Jones regarding the 

content of the draft report. This has been in the form of two emails dated 11 
August 2017 and 21 August 2017. 
 
Email dated 11 August 2017 
 
(a) We have considered the statement that the report is derogatory 

towards Mr Jones and is one sided. Throughout the complex 
investigation we have sought evidence from individuals as identified to 
us. This has included independent individuals and those such as Mr 
Ford-Terry who were in some respects biased towards Mr Jones. It is 
fact that most, if not all, individuals contacted give a similar account of 
behaviours which have been accurately recorded within the report.  It 
is lawful and the function of an investigator to reach findings on the 
complaints made – see Hussain v Sandwell MBC [2017] EWHC 1641  

 
(b) Mr Jones was given a series of questions, having declined the 

opportunity of face to face interview, which to date he has not offered 
any response. During this process he was asked to provide any other 
witness which again he has failed to provide. 

 
(c) Mr Jones states that individuals interviewed were not credible 

witnesses quoting persons being involved in the pornographic industry 
and individuals being subject of complaint. We are satisfied that we 
obtained evidence from a broad range of individuals, whose evidence 
is credible. 

 
(d) Mr Jones challenges the issue of report confidentiality. This has and is 

being dealt with by the MO. 
 

(e) Mr Jones is angry about the investigation continuing after his 
resignation. It is important to note that all interviews, bar his own, were 
completed by this time. The provision of an opportunity to respond 
and/or answer questions was as a means to reach conclusion in the 
form of report in a balanced and proportionate investigation. This 
continuation of the completion phase of the enquiry was conducted 
under instruction of the MO. 

 
(f) Mr Jones concludes this email, stating that the investigation did not 

include information provided to the MO, as it was not in the report, but 
does not specify what this information is. The enquiry has taken into 
consideration all information provided and gathered during the course 
of enquiry. 

  
6.17 Reflecting on the content of this email along with comments regarding the 

methodology of the investigation we find that none of the comments cause us 
to change the findings or content of this report. 
 
Email dated 21 August 2017 
 
(a) Mr Jones states he will treat the confidentiality aspect of the report as 

he sees fit; 
 
(b) Mr Jones continues to relate a bias against him in the report; 
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(c) Mr Jones states he will offer response to the final report; 

 
(d) Mr Jones states he will require an interview despite having previously 

failed to cooperate or provide an opportunity to undertake such an 
activity. This is in conflict with his response stating he will only respond 
on receipt of the completed report; 

 
(e) Mr Jones challenges the ability to undertake the completion of the 

enquiry after his resignation as a councillor. This issue is being dealt 
with by the MO and is not a matter for this report; 

 
(f) Mr Jones concludes by asking who he should prepare his evidence for 

and who is the decision making body to whom the report will be 
presented. Wilkin Chapman LLP will present this report to the MO who 
will deal with further actions and any presentation within the Council’s 
internal procedures. 

 
6.18 We have considered the information within this narrative and conclude that 

there are no changes to the content of the report arising from this. We also 
conclude that Mr Jones’ comments offer no further information that would 
cause us to change the findings in this report. 
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7. Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply with the 

Code of Conduct 
 

Official Capacity 
 

7.1 Section 28(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to adopt a code 
of conduct dealing with the conduct that is expected of members of the 
Council “when they are acting in that capacity”. 

 
7.2 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to adopt a code 

of conduct "dealing with the conduct that is expected of members ... when 
they are acting in that capacity”.  The Council's code is expressed to apply 
whenever a member is acting in the capacity as a member or co-opted 
member or claiming to act or giving the impression of acting as a 
representative of the authority.  
 

7.3 Though relating to the former 2007 model code of conduct, the Upper 
Tribunal decision in MC v Standards Committee of the London Borough of 
Richmond [2011] UKUT 232 (AAC) is a helpful distillation of the previous High 
Court cases on capacity – Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England 
[2006] EWHC 2533 and R(Mullaney) v Adjudication Panel for England [2009] 
EWHC 72. The principles stated in MC are:- 
 

(a) was the councillor, as a matter of ordinary English, actually 
conducting the business of their authority, including the 
business of the office of councillor? 

 
(b) a fact sensitive approach is required to the above; 
 
(c) just because the councillor used routes of communication open 

to members but not to others does not in itself provide a 
definitive answer to the question; 

 
(d) the question is one for the tribunal to determine, not a 

reasonable observer. 
 

7.4 In this case the allegations relate to Councillor Jones’ behaviour with specific 
relation to councillors, staff, the Friends of the Memorial Park, the Memorial 
Park work and interaction with contracted bodies. The question arises as to 
whether he was there or acted in his capacity of a councillor or as an 
interested member of the public. 

 
7.5 With regard to the interaction with members of Moore Environment and 

subcontractors, his contact and demands were specifically targeted at the 
Memorial Park Project. His demeanour gave the impression that this was an 
issue over which he had influence and control, hence the response and 
delivery of information and actions regarding the site. 

 
7.6 During his interactions with the Town Clerk, the contact and interactions were 

via Council email, on Council premises and whilst undertaking his Council 
role. 

 
7.7 With Council Staff, Councillor Jones was on Council property and undertook 

his interactions with clear communication of his role within the Council. 
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7.8 Relating interaction with other councillors, his membership of the Council was 
clear and the interactions all had clear council bases from which they 
expanded. 
 

7.9 Regarding his disclosure of personal interests, Councillor Jones was asked 
on a number of occasions to complete and provide details of any personal 
interests. 

 
7.10 The Facebook interaction indicated both roles and his responses were that of 

a councillor and not a member of the public. His narratives and habitual use 
of social media was that of a communication tool when acting as a councillor 
within these groups.  

 
7.11 With specific respect to Mr Dewi Jones, Councillor Jones was a member of 

the Council and a member of Coleshill Carnival Committee.  
 

7.12 His attendance and narrative within Mr Jones’ offices were such that he 
indicated his role within the Council and his specific involvement in the 
project. 
 

7.13 The incident in the offices of Mr Jones could have constituted a continuation 
of the conversation on social media. This conversation, however, was closely 
linked to the role held by Councillor Jones within the Coleshill Carnival and 
not specifically to that of his role as a councillor.  
 

7.14 Whilst there is some argument that some of the alleged activity was not 
carried out in formal meetings, we have concluded that the matters referred to 
were carried out while Councillor Jones was acting in his capacity as a 
councillor.  

 
Disrepute 
 
7.15 Having considered the facts as aforementioned within section 4 of this report 

and the considerations set out in section 5, we have considered the evidence 
relating to whether or not Councillor Jones has brought his position as a 
councillor into disrepute. 
 

7.16 Although not referred to within the complaint it is relevant to consider 
disrepute. Paragraph 5 of the Council’s Code of Conduct states:- 
 

“You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably 
be regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute.” 

 
7.17 This is in the spirit of the relevant provision of the previous 2007 model code 

of conduct which deals with ‘disrepute’ and perceptions of both the Authority 
as a body and the office of member. 

 

7.18 As such it is relevant to consider guidance issued by the then Standards 
Board for England (SfE). Question 43 on page 66 of the Case Review 2010 
(2011 Edition) published by SfE advises that disrepute is:-  

 
“….a lack of good reputation or respectability. 
 
In the context of the Code of Conduct, a member’s behaviour in office 
will bring that member’s office into disrepute if the conduct could 
reasonably be regarded as either: 
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1) Reducing the public’s confidence in that member being able to 
fulfil their role; or 

 
2) Adversely affecting the reputation of members generally, in 

being able to fulfil their role.” 
 

7.19 Q44 on the next page of the Case Review 2010 advises that:- 
 

“An officer carrying out an investigation…does not need to prove that 
a member’s actions have actually diminished public confidence, or 
harmed the reputation of the authority…the test is whether or not a 
members’ conduct “could reasonably be regarded” as having these 
effects. 
 
The test is objective and does not rely on any one individual’s 
perception. There will be a range of opinions that a reasonable person 
could have towards the conduct in question.” 

 

7.20 Q42 on page 66 of the Case Review indicates that:- 
 

“A case tribunal or standards committee will need to be persuaded 
that the misconduct is sufficient to damage the reputation of the 
member’s office or authority, as opposed simply to damaging the 
reputation of the individual concerned.” 

 

7.21 In applying the Code to the circumstances of an alleged breach of code it is 
established that it is not necessary for the member’s actions to have actually 
diminished public confidence, or harmed the reputation of the authority. The 
test is whether or not the conduct could ‘reasonably be regarded’ as having 
these effects. However, the conduct must be sufficient to damage the 
reputation of the member’s office or the Authority, not just the reputation of 
Councillor Jones as an individual. 

 
7.22 What must be considered here is a subjective view. That is, whether the 

actions of Councillor Jones, in respect of his interaction both with the public 
and contractors but also in clear sight of the public, were such that a member 
of the public, knowing all the relevant facts, would reasonably think that his 
actions were so significant that it would impact on the Council’s ability to 
properly carry out its functions.  

 
7.23 As highlighted this is a subjective test, however, in this instance the numerous 

narratives recorded all bear similarities as they, when combined, highlight that 
the continued course of conduct of Councillor Jones across the spectrum of 
witness and complainant indicate a clear fact that they believe that Councillor 
Jones’ behaviour has reduced the public’s confidence in him being able to 
fulfil his role and also adversely affected the reputation of members generally, 
an example being reference to the ‘Circus already being in Town’. 
 

7.24 We therefore consider  that Councillor Jones has brought his position as a 
councillor into disrepute and has therefore breached the Council’s Code of 
Conduct with regard to disrepute. 
 

Bullying 
 
7.25 The term bullying is not defined within the code, however, bullying and 

intimidation is referred to in the standards Board Guidance Code issued in 
May 2007. It states on page 9 of the guidance that: 
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“Bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious, 
insulting or humiliating behaviour. Such behaviour may happen once 
or be part of a pattern of behaviour directed at a weaker person or a 
person over whom you have some actual or perceived influence. 
Bullying behaviour attempts to undermine an individual or a group of 
individuals, it is detrimental to their confidence and capability, and may 
adversely affect their health. 
 
This can be contrasted with legitimate challenges which a member 
can make in challenging policy or scrutinising performance.” 
 

7.26 At question 22 on the same page, the Standards board advised that members 
could criticise officers:- 

 
“In some cases officers have been known to reject reasonable 
criticism appropriately made and describe it as bullying. The 
government did not intend the code of conduct to constrain members 
involvement in local governance, including the role of members to 
challenge performance. Members are able to question and probe poor 
performance provided it is done in an appropriate way. In the everyday 
running of a local authority, it is inevitable that members may have 
disagreements with officers from time to time. 
 
 This paragraph does not mean that members cannot express 
disagreement with officers. This disagreement might, in the 
appropriate content, manifest itself in criticism of the way in which an 
officer or officers handled particular matters.  
 
It is important that members raise poor performance in the correct way 
and at the proper forum, such as in a private meeting with a senior 
manager, and not in a public meeting or through a published article in 
the media...” 
 

7.27 There is clear evidence within statements taken and also from the content 
that is contained within the attached statements and emails that the behaviour 
of Councillor Jones falls far below that of what is expected from a councillor. 
 

7.28 The statements when read as a whole rather than individual statements, give 
a continuous account of relentless and confrontational behaviour delivered by 
Councillor Jones without remorse and in a consistent manner, whether to 
peers within the Council, Council staff or sub-contractors.  
 

7.29 The extensive evidence considered in this field has supported the allegations 
that Councillor Jones has undertaken bullying behaviour, not only within the 
Council environment with relation to councillors and Council officers, but 
taking this behaviour to members of the public. In the case of Mr Dewi Jones, 
within his office space, and towards the contractors involved in the Memorial 
Park Project, his behaviour was both disruptive and bullying. His involvement 
at meetings of the Friends of the Memorial Park (FOMP) volunteers was such 
as to cause them to resign en mass due to his behaviour. 
 

7.30 In light of this we consider Councillor Jones has breached the Council’s Code 
of Conduct with regard to bullying. 
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Respect 
 
7.31 The Town Council Code states:- 

 
“Para 3(1) He/She shall behave in such a way that a reasonable 
person would regard as respectful” 

 
7.32 The term “respect” is not defined in the Code; however the requirement to 

treat others with respect must be viewed objectively. Account should be taken 
of the member’s intent and how their behaviour would reasonably be 
perceived. 

 
7.33 The Standards Board for England Case Review 2010 provides guidance by 

indicating a ‘rule of thumb’ comparison. Q15 of the Case Review 2010 
advises that:- 

 
“A very clear line has to be drawn between the Code of Conduct’s 
requirement of respect for others, including members of the authority 
with opposing views, and the freedom to disagree with the views and 
opinions of others. In a democracy, members of public bodies should 
be able to express disagreement publicly with each other.”  

 
7.34 A rule of thumb is expressed in this comparison:- 

 
“You’re talking drivel” is likely to be an acceptable expression of 
disagreement. 

 
Calling someone an “incompetent moron”, on the other hand, is more 
likely to be a failure to comply with paragraph 3(1). 

 
We can see that the first comment is aimed at the expression of an 
idea or argument. The second is aimed at the person and their 
personal characteristics”.  

 
7.35 Whilst some care must be taken in adopting wholesale a test applicable to a 

provision of the former national model code, it is the personalisation of 
comments that cause the user to breach the Code. The conduct must be 
unreasonable, unwarranted and personalised. In considering whether 
comments are disrespectful, regard must be had to the right to free speech in 
article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
7.36 We note the approach taken by the former Adjudication Panel in Capon v 

Shepway District Council [2008] APE 0399, conveniently summarised by the 
Standards Board’s Case Review 2010 (2011 edition) at page 32 as:- 

 
“A tribunal considered the threshold for a failure to treat others with 
respect. The councillor made comments about the town clerk at a 
parish meeting saying that an officer found her “difficult to get on with”. 
The councillor added that “this is also the view of many towns’ people 
who say that when they try to contact the town clerk, she is downright 
rude to them”.  

 
7.37 The Tribunal considered that the threshold for a failure to treat another with 

respect has to be set at a level that allows for the passion and frustration that 
often accompanies political debate and the discussion of the efficient running 
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of a council. It should also be set within the context of who was involved in the 
exchange.  

 
7.38 In that case, the comments were opinions of other individuals which the 

member honestly believed to be true. The member’s conduct was not unfair, 
unreasonable or demeaning to the Town Clerk and not made in a malicious or 
bullying manner. The Town Clerk was very experienced in her dealings with 
councillors and given her seniority was entirely able to defend her position. 
Therefore, the tribunal decided that the threshold was not reached 

 
7.39 The considerations in this example are significant in two respects. Firstly the 

actual conduct alleged, and, secondly the position of the individuals 
concerned, be it the Town Clerk, Council staff, members of the public or 
contractors. 
 

7.40 In the present circumstances, the actual conduct alleged to have been 
disrespectful seems particularly pertinent.  Much of such conduct is uniform 
across witness statements obtained and includes Councillor Jones using his 
physical presence and loud voice to carry out continuous and vexatious 
attacks and control over individuals, failing to show regard to others, 
irrespective of position or role.  
 

7.41 Secondly, we refer to the role. It becomes apparent from accounts that 
Councilor Jones uses his role as an elected councilor to dominate 
conversations, meetings and any engagement.  
 

7.42 We refer back to The Standards Board for England Case Review guidance by 
indicating a ‘rule of thumb’ comparison:- 

 
“A very clear line has to be drawn between the Code of Conduct’s 
requirement of respect for others, including members of the authority 
with opposing views, and the freedom to disagree with the views and 
opinions of others. In a democracy, members of public bodies should 
be able to express disagreement publicly with each other.”  

 
7.43 We have also had regard to the right to freedom of speech on political matters 

set out in Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) as 
considered in Heesom v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] 
EWHC 1504, where it was held:- 
 

 Article 10 of ECHR protects not only the substance of political 
comment but the form in which it is conveyed; 
 

 a degree of the immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, 
exaggerated, provocative, polemical, colourful, non rational and 
aggressive is to be tolerated; 

 

 political comment includes comment on public administration and the 
adequacy of the performance of public duties by others, but not 
gratuitous personal comments; 

 

 whilst civil servants are open to criticism, there is a public interest that 
they are not subject to unwarranted comments that disenable them 
from performing public duties and undermines public confidence; 
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 there is a need to weigh up the public interest in protecting civil 
servants against enhanced protection for political comment. 

 
7.44 Councillor Jones holds strong views.  He clearly has an agenda, be it political 

or personal, and uses his persona to achieve this, irrespective of the 
reputational outcome to the Authority or damage to individuals with whom he 
has had contact.  His conduct went beyond the legitimate, if robust criticism of 
public officials to so undermining them that they were disabled from 
performing public duties. 
 

7.45 In light of the evidence obtained we consider that Councillor Jones has 
breached the Council’s Code of Conduct with regard to respect. 
 

Registration of Interests 
 

7.46 From information supplied in the form of registration of interest documents 
(attached at WC 27) provided by the Town Clerk it becomes apparent that 
Councillor Jones makes no reference to B46 Print in these documents. 
 

7.47 Within statements, including that of Mr Ford-Terry, Chairman of the Coleshill 
Carnival Committee (Unsigned), reference is made to the provision of 
products to the Coleshill Carnival by B46 Print and Councillor Jones 
specifically.  
  

7.48 Para 4 of the Code of Conduct gives clear direction regarding the 
requirements for councillors relating to disclosure of personal interests. 

 
7.49 The statement of Mr Ford-Terry clearly and categorically identifies that 

remuneration was paid to Councillor Jones for services and products, namely 
flyers, banners and leaflets relating to the Coleshill Carnival. 
 

7.50 In light of the information regarding the lack of disclosure of involvement in 
B46 Print and the receipt of remuneration we conclude that in this instance 
Councillor Jones has breached the Council’s Code of Conduct with regard to 
registration of interests. 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
 

7.51 It is suggested that Councillor Jones sought to influence issues within which 
he had a disclosable pecuniary interest.  
 

7.52 The only supporting evidence of this is where a number of the statements 
indicate a propensity to ‘bluster’ by Councillor Jones on how he could have 
things done cheaper or better elsewhere without specific reference to 
companies or individuals.  The contents of the unsigned statement are 
included in this report but caution should be exercised in how much weight 
can be attached to that evidence. 
 

7.53 As such without further investigation or input from Councillor Jones  there is 
insufficient evidence to support this allegation.   
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8. Finding 

 
8.1 Our finding is that there has been a breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct 

by Councillor Jones. 
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150616 Town Council – Code of Conduct - Appendix 4Members’ Code of Conduct
SummaryThe Town Council has partly implemented a reporting of disclosable pecuniary interests but hasnot adopted a full Members’ Code of Conduct which would particularly assist with procedureson declaration of interests.
Recommendation

To adopted a full Members’ Code of Conduct to assist with procedures on Member
obligations and declaration of interests.

BackgroundColeshill Town Council has, for some while, encouraged members to comply with thedeclaration to the Borough Council’s Monitoring Officer of “disclosable pecuniary interests”.This subject was covered by the April Training evening by Mr. John Crossling, the WALC Officer.The law is very specific on the categories that are included:-EmploymentSponsorshipContractsLandLicencesCorporate tenancies andSecurities.In addition, since the Localism Act 2011, local government authorities have been expected toagree their own Code of Conduct.  A Model Code was produced in 2007 and is still therecommended, latest LGA /NALC recognised template.  Most parish /town councils haveadopted or adapted that Model Code.It appears that Coleshill Town Council did not adopt a full Members’ Code of Conduct in2011/12.  Therefore, it cannot fully implement a policy on procedures for declaration ofinterests of a non-pecuniary basis.Before the Localism Act 2011, local government authorities used a framework of “prejudicial”and personal interests.  What is known as the “man on the Clapham Omnibus test was used”, i.e.what would a total stranger make of a member’s interest and how would that person expect amember to act.Attached is the Model Members’ Code of Conduct with clauses 1-15 unamended for potentialadoption.Clause 16 is a table that has been added by the Town Clerk to give clarification to the actionsexpected on Disclosable Pecuniary, Prejudicial and Personal interests in terms of whenmembers are expected to declare interests and not discuss /vote on matters in hand.
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Finance and Value for MoneyThere are no direct financial concerns with adopting a Members’ Code of Conduct.
Risk Management IssuesThere are no direct risk concerns to the Authority through adopting a Members’ Code ofConduct.  However, adoption of a code would avoid a potential loss of credibility of members inthe eyes of the public through unclear or inadequate member obligations and declaration ofinterests..

This report has been prepared by the Town Clerk
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Written questions for Councillor Mark Jones

1. Please indicate your career as a politician and the roles you undertake within the
community of Coleshill and the Council?

2. Have you any other business interests?

3. Can you give me an initial response to these allegations?

4. Can you explain to me your understanding, if any, of the Nolan Principles?

5. Can you explain to me your knowledge of disclosable interests within the Council
codes?

6. Can you clarify what, if any, disclosable interests have you registered since
becoming a Councillor?

7. Can you describe to me your relationship with the Town Clerk, Colin Greatorex?

8. What is/was your role within the Coleshill Carnival?

9. At this time what was your role in B46 Print?

10. How would you comment regarding the perception that you deal with Council issues
on behalf of the Committee?

11. Why did you take ownership of the damage issue on behalf of the Committee (ref 1
Aug 2016 email communication)?

12. Did you provide a quote for banners, fliers and leaflets for the 2016 Carnival from
B46 print?

13. Did you provide these items?

14. At what cost was this?

15. Did you disclose this within the Council’s disclosable interest process?

16. Can you give me an explanation of the Facebook interaction (09/10/16) relating to
the firework display during Coleshill Carnival?

17. Did you post a response on behalf of the Carnival Committee?

18. Who sanctioned this posting and its content?

19. How would you describe Colin Greatorex?

20. Again, can you go into your relationship/interactions with Colin Greatorex? How
would you describe them?

21. In paragraph 7 of his statement, Mr Greatorex states you show a continuous course
of bullying behaviour towards him. Why do you think he feels this way?
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22. In paragraph 10, he identifies, constant criticism, disrespectful wording, rubbishing
Council decisions, challenging his professionalism. These are strong words. Why do
you think he directs this at you?

23. In paragraph 11, he states you use your voice, position and stature to undermine
confidence of him and his staff challenging decisions in open forum.  Please provide
your comments on this.

24. In paragraph 12, he highlights that you had prejudicial interest in the Carnival. What
is your opinion?

25. In following paragraphs, he describes how you take ownership of issues relating to
damage moving away from Council procedures.  Please provide your comments on
this.

26. In paragraph 18, he describes an incident where you challenged him in open forum.
What do you feel about this account?

27. Did you shout at him in open forum?

28. Do you feel this is appropriate behaviour for a Councillor?

29. In paragraph 21, he describes you barging into his office irrespective of who is there
or what he is doing. Is this true?

30. He describes a number of complaints where the core of these appears to be
overbearing and inappropriate behaviour. Is this a true reflection of your interactions
with these individuals?

31. In paragraph 24, he specifically attributes your behaviour to the resignation of the
whole of the Friends of the Memorial Park (FOMP). Please provide your comments
on this.

32. In paragraph 27, he relates to your lack of disclosure regarding receiving payment for
fliers, posters and banners produced by B46 print. Can you explain this?

33. He describes your use of social media as reducing public confidence and damaging
the reputation of the Council and its officers. Is this a true reflection of your
behaviour?

34. He states you have affected his working practices and those of his staff, given him
sleepless nights, damaged morale within the Council and relationships with
Contractors. Do you agree this is not appropriate behaviour, if proved, for a
Councillor to display?

35. What comments do you have regarding the statement of Colin Greatorex that
appears to portray you as a bully?

36. How would you describe Zoe Hilcox?

37. What interaction have you had with Zoe Hilcox?

38. Can you describe the manner of your entrance into the Town Council Offices?
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39. In paragraph 10, she describes an incident where she states you were shouting in
the public space of the office. Is this true?

40. She describes your tone as loud and bullying. Is this appropriate?

41. In paragraph 13, she goes into detail about a FOMP meeting where she states you
spent an hour shouting over the Chairman and “slagging off“ the Council. Is this a
true reflection?

42. What were you doing at this meeting?

43. Is this appropriate behaviour for a Councillor?

44. Your behaviour led to her stating she would never be sent to a meeting like that
again. Can you express your feelings at being thought of in this way?

45. She states you are dismissive and force people to face a barrage of abuse from
yourself. Again, is this appropriate behaviour for a Councillor?

46. Can you comment on the content of Zoe Hilcox’s statement in that it goes some way
to support the allegation that your behaviours are overbearing and bullying?

47. How would you describe Helen Whittaker?

48. In paragraph 6, she states the women in the office are concerned regarding their
safety and possible recrimination along with the fact you have allegedly stated “you
have friends in the police”. Can you explain why they feel this way?

49. In paragraph 7, she highlights many areas of disrespect, rudeness in front of staff
and the public. She outlines your presence on social media being inappropriate.
Please provide your comments on this.

50. She explains in depth your involvement in an incident where it concluded with her
going home in tears feeling disrespected and undermined.  Do you recognise this
incident?

51. She states you undermine other Councillors, and your behaviour has forced staff to
ensure two are present when you go into the office. How do you feel about this?

52. She also states you go into the office shouting, identifying the issue of printing as an
example.  Is this true?

53. In paragraph 16, she states the ladies in the office have discussed leaving en masse
if nothing is done about your behaviour. Are you aware of this?

54. What is your knowledge and description of Kate Shtrezi?

55. She describes interaction with you regarding IT issues and states that in meetings
you dismiss her and forget her name on purpose as a tactic. Can you explain this?

56. In paragraph 11, she describes you attending the office and being very rude, talking
about her as if she was not there and referring to her as ‘staff’. Again, she feels this
put her in her place and undermined her. Are you aware of the impact you have on
female members of staff?
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57. She states you use your position, stature and presence to dominate people and
make them feel like they serve you. Is this what you intend to do?

58. She corroborates other statements regarding your overbearing and bullying of the
Town Clerk. Why do you think this is so?

59. She highlights that you constantly criticise work and are aggressive and intimidating
making her and others not want to engage with you. Is this a truthful description of
you and if so are you happy with this?

60. Would you make comment on the content of Kate’s statement?

61. Can you describe your relationship with Kirsteen Wootton and how do you interact
with her?

62. She states she challenged you when she saw that you had upset Kate Shtrezi. Do
you think this challenge was justified?

63. She goes on to identify that her contact with staff has resulted in her saying your
bullying behaviour is leaving staff vulnerable and susceptible and that your behaviour
is inappropriate as an elected Councillor. Have you any comment?

64. She highlights that you show continued distain for the Town Clerk. Is this true and a
fair description?

65. She closes stating that the atmosphere created by you can only be described as
poisonous. What do you have to say about this statement?

66. Do you have any comment regarding Councillor Wootton’s statement?

67. As a fellow Councillor what is your interaction with Councillor Ferro and how would
you describe him?

68. He immediately states you invariably attack him verbally and through social media.
Why do you think he feels this way?

69. In paragraph 11, he states you called him ‘Fatboy’ and barged into him. Do you
recollect the incident?

70. Can you explain this behaviour?

71. Do you think this is appropriate behaviour for an elected Councillor?

72. Can I ask for comment regarding Councillor Ferro’s statement which indicates you
bully Councillors as well as staff and act in a manner unbecoming that of a
Councillor, at times bringing the role into disrepute?

73. As a Councillor can you describe your relationship with Councillor Taylor, what words
would you use to describe him?

74. He identifies that you shout down the Town Clerk and dominate meetings you are
attending. Again, why would someone describe you in this manner?
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75. He states your fixation with the Town Clerk has made it increasingly difficult for
anyone to get work done. Are you aware of this?

76. He highlights an extensive string of emails asking you to stop communicating with
him. Can you explain this?

77. He covers in depth your use of social media and states that he feels your behaviour
is leading the public to see the stature of councillor as having gone down the pan.
Would you agree with this?

78. He closes by saying you attack everything and everyone you disagree with. Do you
think this adequately reflects your character?

79. Would you like to comment on Councillor Taylor’s statement and offer any reflection
on why he feels you are as he describes?

80. Can you describe your interaction with Councillor Farrell?

81. How would you describe relations with Councillor Farrell?

82. He describes you as aggressive and fixated. What would your response be to this
statement?

83. He describes your attendance at the Memorial Park indicating that you interfered and
were in breach of protocols. What is your response?

84. What do you think of the project?

85. He again comments on your use of social media, stating you clearly identify yourself
as a Councillor. Is this a true reflection?

86. He extensively describes you as a bully outlining a member who has crossed the
floor and the Town Clerk as examples. Why do you feel he, as with others, believes
you are displaying these character traits?

87. He identifies the content and aggressive nature of your emails. Why do you think
people are repeatedly identifying this?

88. Can you outline your interaction and relationship with Councillor Richardson?

89. Councillor Richardson states your continued behaviour, aggression and intimidation
has caused him to leave the Conservative Party and move over to Labour. Can you
describe, in your words, why you think this happened?

90. He highlights many incidents including one in the public domain where you use your
stature, presence and aggressive demeanour to belittle him. Why do you think he
feels this way?

91. Is the description within the statement a true reflection of the incidents?

92. He describes you as pushing your chest out, demanding loyalty to yourself and
threatening to make his life hell within the Council. Again, is there any semblance of
truth in this and if so is it appropriate behaviour when balanced against the Codes of
Conduct?
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93. Would you like to respond to the content of Councillor Richardson’s statement?

94. Dewi Jones indicates he has known you for a while and knows you through your
running of B46 Print on the Blue Box Storage Solutions Complex. How would you
describe your relationship with him?

95. Can you describe your interaction with him on Facebook?

96. Were you offended when he asked for an apology as he felt it had been proven you
had lied on Facebook?

97. He states, in paragraph 14 to 16, that you attended his office, shouted at him, used
vulgar and offensive language and put him in fear of you physically attacking him.
Can you explain why he felt so intimidated?

98. In paragraph 17, he describes you using inappropriate language when describing
Councillors. Do you have any comment?

99. As a member of the public Mr Jones’ statement reflects much of what has been
described internally. Would you like to reflect on this statement and make comment?

100. Declan Rooney is the coordinator for Moore Environment. Can you describe any
interactions you have had with Mr Rooney?

101. Can you explain your attendance and interference in works on the Memorial Park
project including under what authority or remit you have done so?

102. Are you aware of the delays that have been caused through your unsanctioned
attendance and instruction at the Project?

103. Mr Jones describes your actions as having a negative impact on the process relating
to the Memorial Park project. Was this action undertaken with the intention of
frustrating the process in some manner?

104. Can you reflect on the content of Mr Rooney’s statement and explain why you have
behaved in this manner towards a community project?

105. Can you describe your knowledge and relationship with Marie Brotheridge?

106. From paragraph 8 onward, she describes you attending a meeting in her words as a
Councillor and devastating this meeting to such an extent the whole panel resigned.
Can you explain your actions and why you acted in this manner as per her narrative?

107. What did you see as your role at the meeting?

108. Do you feel your behaviour as a Councillor was appropriate towards members of the
community?

109. Do you feel your actions upheld the Nolan principles and showed the Council in high
repute?

110. Do you have any comments regarding the content of Marie Brotheridge’s statement?

CONFIDENTIAL REPORT

Page 13 of 214



111. Julie Gregory’s statement reflects that of Marie Brotheridge and as such places your
actions as directly responsible for the collapse of the FOMP. Please comment on
this.

112. Sue Moore is the Director of Moore Environment. Can you describe your relationship
and knowledge of Sue Moore?

113. Why were you not happy with the Project?

114. Why did you use disparaging comments about the management of the project when
you were party to the decision making process?

115. Do you feel social media is the right forum to raise issues concerning the Council?

116. What are your comments regarding the statement of Sue Moore?

117. Staff, Councillors, members of the Community and Contractors all say similar things
such as your behaviour can be construed as bullying, people are afraid of you and
your actions are damaging the reputation of the Council.  Please comment on this.
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STATEMENT of: Michael Ford-Terry 

 
 

1. I am a builder and run a company by the name of ‘Attention to Detail’. I am based in 

Coleshill and in addition to my building interests undertake voluntary work, in so 

much as I have been involved as a school governor, Vice Chairman of ‘Coleshill in 

Bloom’ for 12 years and have also been involved in the ‘Coleshill Carnival’ for 

approximately 3 years.  

 

2. On 6 February 2017 I was contacted by Wilkin Chapman LLP regarding complaints 

that had been raised with the Monitoring Officer (MO) of North Warwickshire Borough 

Council who deals with complaints of alleged breaches of Codes of Conduct applying 

to local government councillors in its area. 

 

3. From this correspondence I am now aware that Councillor Mark Jones has or may 

have failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct under the following 

headings: 

 

 Acting in an aggressive and rude manner.  This is in respect of other 

Councillors, the Town Council’s staff and contractors; 

 

 undermining and overly challenging the Clerk and the legitimate, general 

decision making process of the Town Council; 

 

 is overly dominating and disruptive concerning various Town Council projects 

and issues; and  

 

 has sought to influence an issue in which he has a pecuniary interest. 

 

4. I am aware that details of my contact with Councillor Jones have been passed to 

Wilkin Chapman LLP through the MO. Also on 9 February 2017 I undertook a 

telephone interview with Mr Ball, a Consultant with Wilkin Chapman LLP.  From this 

Interview and the provided documents, this statement has been compiled. 
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5. As background to my involvement in Coleshill Carnival and relationship with 

Councillor Mark Jones I will outline how we came to know each other. Whilst on the 

Coleshill in Bloom committee I met Mark Jones when he was placed on that 

committee as a Council representative. About 3 years ago friend of mine, Councillor 

Peter Fowler, approached me and asked if I would be interested in working with him 

to revive the Coleshill Carnival which had ceased some 19 years ago. I felt this was a 

wonderful idea and started to work towards developing Peter’s idea. Due to other 

commitments Peter resigned from the Chairman’s position. I took this role and at that 

time Peter had invited Mark Jones to join the committee on or about late 2015.  

 

6. I knew Mark as a strong willed person whilst he was working on the Coleshill in 

Bloom project. I think that was the ex policeman in him. He is strong willed and when 

he sees someone not making decisions Mark steps in and takes over, where I may 

go with it and try to help the person come to a decision.  Mark can’t do that. His 

strong character can sometimes be seen as bullying when in fact it is him just moving 

things on.  

 

7. I get on really well with Colin Greatorex, the Town Clerk. However, I have noticed 

Mark just clashes with him. To this end, regarding the Coleshill Carnival I do tend to 

deal with Colin. As I can’t deal with Council business Mark takes on this much as he 

did with the Coleshill in Bloom.  When I see things getting out of order I do tend to try 

to pull things back in line as I have a good reputation in Coleshill and do not want that 

damaged. 

 

8. Mark took on the role of Vice Chair of the Coleshill Carnival. His role was a bit of both 

really, partly as a Councillor and partly as a member of the community. Mark’s strong 

character can be taken as rudeness if you’re of a gentle nature. He is a positive and 

passionate person and especially passionate about the Carnival. In the beginning I 

was wary, thinking that Mark may see the Carnival as a means of gaining political 

points. However, I was surprised as time went on regarding his passion for the 

project. 

 

9. Mr Ball questioned why Mark took ownership of dealings relating to damage caused 

due to the Carnival referred to in an email from me to Colin Greatorex on 1 August 

2016 at 11:20. And subsequently from Mark to Colin on 1 August 2016 at 15:55. As I 

have already mentioned, Mark tends to deal with Council issues as he has access to 

the Council and can cut corners and get things sorted quicker. I asked him to deal 
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with this issue and asked him to report back to me so I could keep tabs on what was 

happening. 

 

10. There were other issues regarding the damage such as subsidence caused by 

historic pipework and other contractors on the site.  This approach seemed practical 

as we had offered to pay for the repairs and I felt that Mark could speak as a 

Councillor and get this resolved. In retrospect I feel maybe I could have dealt with 

this myself, however I have other commitments and thought it was a relatively easy 

issue to resolve at Council level. 

 

11. Mr Ball has also asked me to give an explanation around the provision of a banner, 

flyers and leaflets provided by Mark through his company B46 Print with relation to 

the Carnival. He asked “what were the dealings with Mark Jones, When? And if there 

were invoices and receipts”. 

 

12. As part of the Carnival process we were looking to advertise the project. We asked 

Mark to put prices together for the aforementioned products. We had also looked at 

other providers.  Any discussions regarding money were had without mark being 

present as we did not want to compromise his position. The price Mark quoted blew 

the other ‘out of the water’. They could only have given him a marginal profit, if any. It 

looked like we got charged for materials and overheads only. The committee actually 

assisted in folding and preparation of the items. I will provide copies of invoices as 

requested. 

 

13. As part of the provision of a Bonfire in 2016 within the Carnival Mr Ball asked me to 

describe the circumstances leading to a protracted facebook conversation on the 

community facebook page, 9 October 2016 between about 20:00 and 23:00 hrs.  

 

14. Prior to this a meeting had been held with Councillor Sue Wallace, Mayor, Councillor 

Adam Farrell and I. Councillor Farrell didn’t want Mark to come along so there was 

some discussion who was to attend.  It was agreed at this meeting that due to works 

being undertaken on the Memorial Park that the Croft was probably a better option.  

A grant of £1000 was applied for and eventually used for the purpose it was 

requested.  After my repeated attempts to talk to trustees regarding the Croft and 

adjacent Digby Trust land I was given a negative response so we had to refer back to 

the original intention to use the memorial park. 
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15. This became complicated and Mark wrote a message to the community outlining 

what was happening signed the Carnival Committee.  I did see the original message 

and changed some aspects of it regarding the tone of the message. The message 

was subsequently posted on the community site as part of the facebook conversation 

on 9 October 2016.  

 

16. The manner of the conversation really infuriated me as you can see by the content of 

the ‘community’ page that very few comments were made by the community or me. 

The politicians were playing one against the other. All I wanted to do was to put on a 

Bonfire. 

 

17. Mark comes across as strong but his heart is in the right place. He can sometimes 

get over enthusiastic and tends to see things as black and white. This is why 

sometimes he gets frustrated when things are not like that. 

 

18. Regarding Colin Greatorex, he does the best job he can. I would describe his 

position as being between a ‘pillar and a post’. I do sometimes feel sorry for him. His 

emails are often short and to the point, sometimes abrupt which I feel winds Mark up. 

Being aware of this I do tend to make Mark run things through me and put them to 

the Committee. I don’t want to get into the politics of all this. 

 

19. I am happy to cooperate with the enquiry and hope my statement has assisted. I do 

not wish to be part of a ‘witch hunt’ against Mark Jones and feel that much of this is 

about one party against another. 

 
 
 
 

 
I Michael Ford-Terry declare that this statement is true and 
accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
 
 
Signed ............................................Date ............................ 
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Appendix 2 
 

 
Arrangements for dealing with  

standards allegations under the Localism Act 2011 
 
 
1 Context 

 
These “Arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that an elected or co-opted 
member of this authority or of a parish council within North Warwickshire has failed to 
comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct, and sets out how the authority will deal with 
allegations of a failure to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct. 
 
Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place 
“arrangements” under which allegations that a member or co-opted member of the 
authority, or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority, or of a parish council within 
the authority’s area has failed to comply with that authority’s Code of Conduct can be 
investigated and decisions made on such allegations.  
 
Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one Independent 
Person, whose views must be sought by the authority before it takes a decision on an 
allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, and whose views can be sought by 
the authority at any other stage, or by a member or a member or co-opted member of a 
parish council against whom an allegation as been made. 
 

2 The Code of Conduct 
 
The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which is attached as Appendix 
One to these arrangements and available for inspection on the authority’s website and on 
request from Reception at the Council’s Offices. 
 
Each parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If you wish to inspect a 
Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should inspect any website operated by the parish 
council or request the parish clerk to allow you to inspect the parish council’s Code of 
Conduct. 
 

3 Making a complaint 
 
If you wish to make a complaint, please write to: 
 

Steve Maxey 
Monitoring Officer 
North Warwickshire Borough Council 
Council Offices 
South Street 
Atherstone 
Warwickshire 
CV9 1DE 
 

Or email: stevemaxey@northwarks.gov.uk 
 

 

mailto:stevemaxey@northwarks.gov.uk
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The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has statutory responsibility for 
maintaining the register of members’ interests and who is responsible for administering the 
system in respect of complaints of member misconduct. 
 
In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able to process 
your complaint, please complete and send us the model complaint form, which can be 
downloaded from the authority’s website, next to the Code of Conduct, and is available on 
request from the One Stop Shop at the Council’s Offices. 
 
Please do provide us with your name and a contact address or email address, so that we 
can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you informed of its progress. If you 
want to keep your name and address confidential, please indicate this in the space 
provided on the complaint form, in which case we will not disclose your name and address 
to the member against whom you make the complaint, without your prior consent. The 
authority does not normally investigate anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear 
public interest in doing so. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within five working days 
of receiving it, and will keep you informed of the progress of your complaint. 
 

4 Will your complaint be investigated? 
 
The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after consultation with the 
Independent Person and the Group Spokespersons on the Standards Committee, take a 
decision as to whether it merits formal investigation. This decision will normally be taken 
within 14 days of receipt of your complaint. Where the Monitoring Officer has taken a 
decision, he/she will inform you of his/her decision and the reasons for that decision. 
 
If the complainant is not happy with that decision, the matter will be reported to the 
Standards Committee for Councillors to review that decision.  
 
Where he/she requires additional information in order to come to a decision, he/she may 
come back to you for such information, and may request information from the member 
against whom your complaint is directed. Where your complaint relates to a Parish 
Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also inform the Parish Council or your complaint and 
seek the views of the Parish Council before deciding whether the complaint merits formal 
investigation. 
 
In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint informally, 
without the need for a formal investigation. Such informal resolution may involve the 
member accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and/or offering an apology, or 
other remedial action by the authority. Where the member or the authority makes a 
reasonable offer of local resolution, but you are not willing to accept that offer, the 
Monitoring Officer will take account of this in deciding whether the complaint merits formal 
investigation. 
  
If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulation by any person, the 
Monitoring Officer has the power to call in the Police and other regulatory agencies. 
 

5 How is the investigation conducted? 
 
The Council has adopted a procedure for the investigation of misconduct complaints, which 
is attached as Appendix Two to these arrangements. 
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If the Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee decides that a complaint merits formal 
investigation, he/she will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another officer of the 
authority, an officer of another authority or an external investigator. The Investigating 
Officer will decide whether he/she needs to meet or speak to you to understand the nature 
of your complaint and so that you can explain your understanding of events and suggest 
what documents the Investigating Officer needs to see, and who the Investigating Officer 
needs to interview. 
 
The Investigating Officer would normally write to the member against whom you have 
complained and provide him/her with a copy of your complaint, and ask the member to 
provide his/her explanation of events, and to identify what documents he needs to see and 
who he needs to interview. In exceptional cases, where it is appropriate to keep your 
identity confidential or disclosure of details of the complaint to the member might prejudice 
the investigation, the Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address from the papers 
given to the member, or delay notifying the member until the investigation has progressed 
sufficiently. 
 
At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft report and 
will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to you and to the member concerned, to 
give you both an opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report which you disagree 
with or which you consider requires more consideration. 
 
Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on the draft 
report, the Investigating Officer will send his/her final report to the Monitoring Officer. 
 

6 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no evidence of a 
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 
The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, if he is satisfied that 
the Investigating Officer’s report is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to 
the member concerned and to the Parish Council, where your complaint relates to a Parish 
Councillor, notifying you that he is satisfied that no further action is required, and give you 
both a copy of the Investigating Officer’s final report. If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied 
that the investigation has been conducted properly, he may ask the Investigating Officer to 
reconsider his/her report. 
 
The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Group Spokesperson, may still report the 
findings of the Investigating Officer to the Standards Committee. 
 

7 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of a failure 
to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 
The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and will then either send 
the matter for local hearing before the Hearings Panel or, after consulting the Independent 
Person and Group Spokespersons on the Standards Committee, seek local resolution. 
 
7.1 Local Resolution 

 
The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can reasonably be resolved 
without the need for a hearing. In such a case, he/she will consult with the 
Independent Person, Group Spokespersons on the Standards Committee and with 
you as complainant and seek to agree what you consider to be a fair resolution 
which also helps to ensure higher standards of conduct for the future. Such 
resolution may include the member accepting that his/her conduct was 
unacceptable and/or offering an apology, and/or other remedial action by the 
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authority. If the member complies with the suggested resolution, the Monitoring 
Officer will report the matter to the Standards Committee and the Parish Council for 
information, but will take no further action. However, if you tell the Monitoring Officer 
that any suggested resolution would not be adequate, the Monitoring Officer will 
refer the matter for a local hearing. 
 

7.2 Local Hearing 
 
If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not appropriate, or you are 
not satisfied by the proposed resolution, or the member concerned is not prepared 
to undertake any proposed remedial action, such as giving an apology, then the 
Monitoring Officer will report the Investigating Officer’s report to the Hearings Panel 
which will conduct a local hearing before deciding whether the member has failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of 
the member. 
 
The Council has agreed a procedure for local hearings, which is attached as 
Appendix Three to these arrangements. 
 
Essentially, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process”, requiring the 
member to give his/her response to the Investigating Officer’s report, in order to 
identify what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to be in contention at the 
hearing, and the Chair of the Hearings Panel may issue directions as to the manner 
in which the hearing will be conducted. At the hearing, the Investigating Officer will 
present his/her report, call such witnesses as he/she considers necessary and 
make representations to substantiate his/her conclusion that the member has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating Officer may 
ask you as the complainant to attend and give evidence to the Hearings Panel. The 
member will then have an opportunity to give his/her evidence, to call witnesses and 
to make representations to the Hearings Panel as to why he/she considers that 
he/she did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct.  
 
The Hearings Panel, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent Person, 
may conclude that the member did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, and 
so dismiss the complaint. If the Hearings Panel concludes that the member did fail 
to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will inform the member of this finding 
and the Hearings Panel will then consider what action, if any, the Hearings Panel 
should take as a result of the member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 
In doing this, the Hearings Panel will give the member an opportunity to make 
representations to the Panel and will consult the Independent Person, but will then 
decide what action, if any, to take in respect of the matter.. 
 

8 What action can the Hearings Panel take where a member has failed to comply with 
the Code of Conduct? 
 
The Council has delegated to the Hearings Panel such of its powers to take action in 
respect of individual members as may be necessary to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct. Accordingly the Hearings Panel may: 
 
8.1 Censure or reprimand the member; 
 
8.2 Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct; 
 
8.3 Report its findings to Council or to the Parish Council for information; 
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8.4 Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed from 
any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council; 

 
8.5 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed from 

particular responsibilities; 
 

8.6 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish Council arrange 
training for the member; 

 
8.7 Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be removed from all 

outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed or nominated by the 
authority or by the Parish Council; 

 
8.8 Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws facilities provided to 

the member by the Council, such as a computer, website and/or email and Internet 
access; or 

 
8.9 Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the member from the 

Council’s offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as 
necessary for attending Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings. 
 

The Hearings Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member or to withdraw 
members’ special responsibility allowances. 
 

9 What happens at the end of the hearing? 
 
At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Hearings Panel as to 
whether the member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to ay actions which 
the Hearings Panel resolves to take. 
 
As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal 
decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Hearings Panel, and send a copy to 
you, to the member and to the Parish Council, make that decision notice available for public 
inspection and report the decision to the next convenient meeting of the Council. 
 

10 Who are the Hearings Panel? 
 
The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Council’s Standards Committee. The 
Standards Committee has decided that it will comprise a maximum of five members of the 
Council, including members drawn from at least two different political parties. Subject to 
those requirements, it is appointed on the nomination of party group leaders in proportion to 
the strengths of each party group on the Council.  
 
The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Panel and his/her 
views are sought and taken into consideration before the Hearings Panel takes any 
decision on whether the member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the 
Code of Conduct. 
 

11 Who is the Independent Person? 
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The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following advertisement 
of a vacancy for the post, and is the appointed by a positive vote from a majority of all the 
members of Council. 
 
A person cannot be “independent” if he/she: 
 
11.1 Is, or has been within the past five years, a member, co-opted member or  officer of 

the authority, with the exception that former Independent Members of Standards 
Committees can be appointed as Independent Persons; 
 

11.2 Is or has been within the past five years, a member, co-opted member or officer of a 
parish council within the authority’s area, or 
 

11.3 Is a relative, or close friend, of a person within paragraph 11.1 or 11.2 above. For 
this purpose, “relative” means: 
 
11.3.1 Spouse or civil partner; 

 
11.3.2 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil 

partners; 
 

11.3.3 Grandparent of the other person; 
 

11.3.4 A lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person; 
 

11.3.5 A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs 11.3.1 or 11.3.2; 
 

11.3.6 A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs 11.3.3, 11.3.4 or 
11.3.5; or 
 

11.3.7 Living with a person within paragraphs 11.3.3, 11.3.4 or 11.3.5 as 
husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 
12 Revision of these arrangements 

 
The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements, and has delegated to 
the Chair of the Hearings Panel the right to depart from these arrangements where he/she 
considers that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective and fair consideration 
of any matter. 
 

13 Appeals 
 
There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the member against a decision of 
the Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings Panel. 
 
If you feel that the authority has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may make a 
complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.  
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